

Open Chromatin

Stefan Winter • Elisabeth Simboeck • Christian Seiser*

Max F. Perutz Laboratories, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna Biocenter, Dr. Bohr-Gasse 9/2, A-1030 Vienna, Austria Corresponding author: * christian.seiser@meduniwien.ac.at

ABSTRACT

In eukaryotic cells genomic DNA is packaged into chromatin thereby constraining the size of the molecule and allowing the cell to organise the genetic information within the nucleus. However, due to this enormous compaction, the accessibility of particular genomic regions that are required for several fundamental cellular processes such as transcription, replication, DNA repair and recombination is impaired. The reversion of this "locked" state, preparatory to and in the course of such processes, involves numerous epigenetic adaptations that finally embody an open chromatin conformation. These alterations comprise the post-translational modifications of histones as well as the activity of chromatin remodelling complexes and the incorporation of particular non-canonical histone variants although these mechanisms may work as one entity rather than single separated mechanisms. Rapid and transient alterations in the local chromatin structure are distinct from more stable marks that may comprise an epigenetic memory, as they rapidly respond to cellular demands rather than stipulate a particular function. Nevertheless, evidence for an interdependency of histone post-translational modifications, like acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ADP-ribosylation and sumoylation, and a role of such "marks" in regulating the accessibility of chromatin, supports the model of a histone code. This hypothesis extends the genetic information by an epigenetic component and regulates the interaction of chromatin with detector proteins. In this review we discuss how the chromatin status is adapted to environmental cues and which factors are involved in the formation and interpretation of open chromatin.

Keywords: chromatin remodelling, epigenetics, euchromatin, heterochromatin, histone code, histone modifications, histone variants, modification crosstalk, signal transduction, transcription

Abbreviations: FAD, flavin adenine dinucleotide; GR, glucocorticoid receptor; HAT, histone acetyltransferase; HDAC, histone deacetylase; HDI, histone deacetylase inhibitor; HMTase, histone (lysine) methyltransferase; HP1, heterochromatin protein 1; HRE, hormone response elements; IE, immediate early; MAP-kinase, mitogen activated protein kinase; MBD, methyl binding domain; MMTV, mouse mammary tumour virus; PR, progesterone receptor; PTM, post-translational modification; RNAP II, RNA polymerase II

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
HISTONE POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS AND MODIFICATION CROSSTALK	
Epigenetic crosstalk: Stable versus dynamic modifications	
Interdependency between transcriptional activating lysine methylation and histone acetylation	
Histone phosphoacetylation, a special relation in cis	
Histone ubiquitination and modification crosstalk in trans	
CHROMATIN REMODELLING COMPLEXES	
Recruitment of chromatin remodelling activity	
Models for chromatin remodelling	
The ySWI/SNF remodelling complex	
The hBRG1 chromatin remodelling complex	
The yRSC chromatin remodelling complex	
ISWI chromatin remodelling complexes	
The NuRD chromatin remodelling complex	
The ySWR1 chromatin remodelling complex	
Remodelling by RNAP II	219
HISTONE VARIANTS IN ACTIVE CHROMATIN	219
The histone H2A.Z variant	219
The histone H3.3 variant	219
Chromatin assembly	
OUTLOOK	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

The cellular response to environmental cues such as cellular stress, change of metabolic conditions, or differentiation signals is mediated via the activation of signal transduction cascades (reviewed in Downward (2001)). Stimulation of such pathways entails an alteration and adaptation of the gene expression profile to equip the cell for a proper response to novel and sometimes menacing demands. During the last decades numerous cellular signal transduction pathways and molecules involved have been identified and characterised, expanding our knowledge on how the cell recognises signals and relays them. To access the biological information embedded in the genome, genes have to be transcribed in the context of a debilitating chromatin environment and signal transduction frequently affects the chromatin level.

Therefore, to initiate and conduct transcription the chromatin polymer is subjected to dynamic structural alterations that finally confer the formation of a transcriptional competent environment. Here we discuss three different mechanisms, the post-translational modification (PTM) of histones, chromatin remodelling via ATP-dependent machineries and the incorporation of particular histone-variants that lead to a preparation and adaptation of the chromatin environment to transcription.

HISTONE POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS AND MODIFICATION CROSSTALK

The first observations that acetylation and methylation of histone molecules impact RNA synthesis emphasized the role of these molecules and their PTMs in the process of transcription (Allfrey et al. 1964). With the establishment of histone acetyltransferases (HATs) as transcriptional coactivators (Brownell et al. 1996; Mizzen et al. 1996) and histone deacetylases (HDAC) as co-repressors (Taunton et al. 1996), post-translational histone modifications were ultimately stated as a pivotal point in the modulation of genome accessibility. The repertoire of known histone PTMs has since been considerably expanded and modifications like lysine or arginine methylation, lysine acetylation, ADP-ribosylation and ubiquitination or serine and threonine phosphorylation have been correlated with transcriptional active or repressive chromatin states. The plethora of possible histone modification patterns epitomises the enormous potential information content that may expand the genetic information and defines local and global chromatin states via an additional level termed the histone code (Strahl and Allis 2000; Jenuwein and Allis 2001).

Epigenetic crosstalk: Stable versus dynamic modifications

The term epigenetic defines heritable changes in gene expression that do not involve changes of the DNA sequence. Such epigenetic traits are established during differentiation and comprehend DNA methylation, RNA-induced silencing and histone PTMs. These marks are essential for defining and maintaining cellular identity (Turner 2002; Egger *et al.* 2004), which is also emphasized by the observation that tumour cells display far-reaching epigenetic alterations during transformation (Fraga and Esteller 2005).

Histone PTMs are now recognised as important mediators of epigenetic traits that are crucial for defining specialised chromatin states like constitutive or facultative heterochromatin and the establishment and maintenance of celltype specific gene expression profiles. There is accumulating evidence that different histone PTMs occur as interdependent events and frequently one initial modification may stipulate the context for subsequent events. The basis for such modification based crossfalk may originate either (1) from the assembly of multi-protein complexes that amalgamate several distinct chromatin modifying activities, (2) by supporting or hampering of protein-protein interactions or (3) via a direct influence of combinatorial PTMs on enzymatic activities. Therefore, the modification "make-up" of a histone molecule prior to a particular stimulus may provide the context for consecutive modification events. In addition, stimulus induced PTMs may provide the basis for subsequent "delayed"-modifications and may themselves be biased by local pre-modifications. Such PTM directed intra-molecular signalling is not limited to histone modifications but rather appears as an important mechanism in the

regulation of various cellular processes (Yang 2005). These considerations are even meaningful for the definition of epigenetic marks: modifications with high turnover rates such as lysine acetylation are often considered as irrelevant for epigenetic mechanisms due to their dynamic turnover and ephemerality. Given the interdependency and sequential placement of PTMs, even rapidly processed modifications could epitomise a particular epigenetic status possibly dependent on other more stable marks, but with reciprocal connection. Since lysine acetylation is in general associated with transcriptional active regions, the local underrepresentation of this modification (hypoacetylation) could be interpreted as transcriptional silent hallmark, constituting an epigenetic state dependent on a previously established repressive environment via more stable histone modifications (secondary epigenetic marks). Such repressive heterochromatic states are established during differentiation via relatively stable marks such as CpG island methylation and methylation of histone H3 at K9 and K27 in conjunction with heterochromatin protein1 (HP1) or polycomb-group proteins (PcG), respectively (Lachner et al. 2003). The view of K9 methylation and HP1 recruitment as an exclusively repressive hallmark has been questioned by reports on the localisation of both factors to transcribed regions and reports on a H3K9me3 independent recruitment of HP1B (Vakoc et al. 2005; Dialynas et al. 2006). Methylation marks at K9 and K27 of histone H3 have a relatively long half-life and were therefore considered to be real (primary) epigenetic marks. However, recent studies showed that histone methylation is dynamically regulated by histone methyltransferases (HMTases) and newly identified demethylases (reviewed in Shi and Whetstine 2006). Two different types of enzymes have been found to act as histone demethylases up to now. Lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1), a family member of the flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) dependent amine oxidases has been originally identified as component of co-repressor complexes (Tong et al. 1998; Humphrey et al. 2001) and was lately shown to demethylate H3K4me1/2 (Shi et al. 2004). In the presence of the androgen receptor LSD1 can also function as H3K9 demethylase thereby acting as transcriptional activator (Metzger et al. 2005). Jumonji C (JmjC) domain containing proteins, which are dioxygenases, were the second group of enzymes shown to be associated with histone demethylase activity (Trewick et al. 2005). JHDM2 (<u>J</u>mjC domain-containing histone deme-thylase 2) was demonstrated to specifically demethylate H3K9me2 (Yamane et al. 2006). Trimethylation of lysine 9, and also of lysine 36, is reversed by another recently identified histone demethylase subfamily, the so-called JMJD2 that also contains a JmjC domain (Whetstine et al. 2006). Surprisingly, JMJD2A was previously identified as a transcriptional repressor (Gray et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2005), underlining its dual function by demethylating K9, a repressive mark, but also K36, an active mark.

Up to now, no specific K27 demethylase was reported. Methylated K27 constitutes a binding epitope for polycomb group proteins, which is needed to maintain the silenced state of homeotic genes, like the *hox* genes, and is additionally required for X chromosome inactivation (Wang *et al.* 2001).

In contrast to methylation, acetylation of histones comprises a modification with much more rapid turnover rates, and transcriptional active regions are in general enriched for acetylated nucleosomes (hyperacetylation) whereas transcriptional suppressed areas are mainly hypoacetylated. Studies on the genome wide distribution of histone acetylation suggest a two-phased distribution of this modification. Firstly, in a local manner, where acetylation is targeted to neighbouring nucleosomes of regulatory elements, in particular at enhancers and promoters but also at the most 5'transcribed sequences. Secondly, in a less pronounced manner during the establishment of vast chromatin regions, which display an opened chromatin conformation (Calestagne-Morelli and Ausio 2006). The fact that such cell-type and context dependent domains of histone acetylation are strictly conserved even between orthologous loci further suggest a strong selective pressure for proper inheritance of these PTM systems.

Importantly, it appears that the formation of silent chromatin regions is also dependent on the removal of active marks in such areas since the enzymes responsible for the formation of transcriptional repressive histone modifications, Suv39h1 and G9a for H3K9 methylation as well EED/EZH for K27 methylation and the silencing via CpG methylation are associated with HDAC activity (Jones et al. 1998; Nan et al. 1998; van der Vlag and Otte 1999; Fuks et al. 2000; Czermin et al. 2001; Vaute et al. 2002; Shi et al. 2003). Although HDAC inhibition is in most cases apparently not sufficient for reactivation of elements silenced by CpG methylation, inhibition of DNA methyltransferases was found to synergise with HDAC inhibitors (HDI) in the activation of such elements, suggesting a requirement for deacetylation in this silencing process (Kaslow and Migeon 1987; Cameron et al. 1999; Csankovszki et al. 2001). Further the maintenance of pericentric heterochromatin appears dependent on the suppressions of hyperacetylation, as HDAC inhibition results in delocalisation to the nuclear periphery and loss of HP1 retention (Taddei et al. 2005). Together these observations demonstrate an interplay between the placing of repressive marks and targeted suppression of activating marks in the formation and maintenance of transcriptional repressive chromatin states.

Interdependency between transcriptional activating lysine methylation and histone acetylation

Lysine methylation can also be associated with transcriptional active regions, as found for lysines 4, 36, 79 of histone H3 (Strahl et al. 1999; Santos-Rosa et al. 2002). Also in the case of activating methyl-lysine marks, methylation appears to be directly linked to acetylation. Recent reports demonstrate a tight coupling between methylation of H3K4 and lysine acetylation: Mass spectrometric studies indicated a preferential localisation of K4 methylation (mono-, diand trimethylation) at penta-acetylated histone H3, whereas H3K9 methylation coincides mainly with mono-acetylation (Zhang et al. 2004). Mahadevan and colleagues reported a continuous turnover of histone acetylation at all K4 trimethylated histone H3 molecules, even during transcriptional silent states, which therefore renders these molecules hypersensitive to HDI mediated hyperacetylation (Hazzalin and Mahadevan 2005; Clayton et al. 2006). Further, transcriptional induction of the immediate early (IE) genes *c-fos* and *c-jun* required this continuous turnover rather than stable histone acetylation, which is in general associated with transcriptional active states, and interruption of the HAT/HDAC equilibrium ceased stimulus-dependent induction. HDAC inhibition and the resulting increase in acetylation did not affect the H3K4me3 levels at these genes suggesting that promoter associated nucleosomes are pre-modified to target acetylation turnover.

Nightingale et al. recently reported a global increase in H3K4 trimethylation upon HDAC inhibition and identified MLL4 as the responsible histone methyltransferases (Nightingale et al. 2006). Importantly, this stabilising effect of histone acetylation on H3K4 methylation was linked to an increased substrate-attraction of the H3K4 HMTase MLL1/4 by acetylated and phosphorylated histone H3 in vitro, whereas the activity of Set7, a HMTase mainly associated with H3K4-monomethylation was not affected (Milne et al. 2002; Xiao et al. 2003; Nightingale et al. 2006). The preference of MLL1/4 for acetylated substrates was demonstrated in vitro and in the absence of additional factors suggesting a direct impact of PTMs on the enzymatic activity (Nightingale et al. 2006). These findings are particular interesting as they demonstrate a reciprocal crosstalk between H3K4 methylation and lysine acetylation although in the case of *c-fos* and *c-jun* H3K4 methylation appears clearly independent of acetylation (Hazzalin et al. 2005). Strikingly, the HDI medi-ated increase in H3K4 trimethylation appears to be reversible upon loss of acetylation as removal of the HDI resulted in rapid deacetylation accompanied by a slower decline of H3K4me3 with a half life of roughly one hour suggesting the existence of a yet to be identified histone demethylase for this isoform. So far, only a demethylase with specificity for mono- and dimethylated H3K4 namely LSD1 was identified. Interestingly, LSD1 contains a nuclear localisation signal (NLS) and a SWIRM domain and is found, together with HDACs, in the Co-REST and other corepressor complexes (Lunyak et al. 2002; Lee et al. 2005) (Fig. 1).

Methylation of H3K4 was demonstrated to recruit several enzymatic activities (Sims and Reinberg 2006) including HAT and chromatin remodelling activity via Chd1, the BPTF subunit of the NURF complex and WDR5, which is also required for MLL activity (Santos-Rosa *et al.* 2003; Dou *et al.* 2005; Pray-Grant *et al.* 2005; Wysocka *et al.* 2005, 2006). Also the recently discovered H3K9/K36me3 histone demethylase JMJD2A is specifically recruited by H3K4me2/3 and H3K20me2/3 (Huang *et al.* 2006) and the PHD finger containing ING2 protein was identified as spe-



Fig. 1 Dynamic acetylation turnover at K4 methylated histone H3. The continuous reciprocal activities of HATs and HDACs are targeted to K4 methylated but not to K9 methylated histone H3. The former species displays therefore a hypersensitivity to HDAC inhibitor (HDI) mediated hyperacetylation, whereas K9 methylated histone H3 is less susceptible due to the missing activity of HATs. Histone acetylation in turn can exert a stabilising effect on K4 methylation by increasing the efficiency of MLL1/4 mediated K4 methylation, which can be reversed via a yet unidentified trimethyl-K4 specific demethylase.

cific detector-protein for H3K4me2/3 (Pena et al. 2006; Shi et al. 2006).

Besides the recruitment of transcriptional stimulating factors, H3K4 methylation can abolish the association or activity of transcriptional repressors such as the nucleosome remodelling and deacetylase complex (NuRD) or the H3K9 methyltransferase Suv39h1. Further, H3K4 methylation is essential for the restriction of Sirlp to heterochromatic regions, providing an additional level how this modification contributes to transcriptionally active chromatin (Nishioka et al. 2002; Zegerman et al. 2002; Santos-Rosa et al. 2004). Importantly, the ING proteins are associated with HDAC and HAT activity and can therefore recruit both transcriptional repressive and activating activities to H3K4me2/3 modified histone H3 (Doyon et al. 2006). Another example for the interaction with enzymatic activities that are normally associated with differential transcriptional effects is the co-localisation of HCF-1 with a Set1/ Ash2 related HMTase complex as well as the Sin3 HDAC complex (Wysocka et al. 2003).

Histone phosphoacetylation, a special relation *in cis*

Histone phosphorylation comprises a particular interesting modification with extremely opposite characteristics in mitosis or interphase, respectively. Mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10 (H3S10ph) occurs in a global manner, first appearing in late G2 phase at pericentromeric heterochromatin and propagating throughout the whole chromosome until late prophase. Hyperphosphorylation is maintained during metaphase and dephosphorylation is initiated concomitant with anaphase and completed at telophase (Hendzel *et al.* 1997). This mitosis specific phosphorylation of histone H3 is mediated by the Aurora B kinase and is required for the displacement of HP1 proteins from mitotic condensed chromatin (Mateescu *et al.* 2004; Fischle *et al.* 2005; Hirota *et al.* 2005).

In contrast, interphase phosphorylation of histone H3 is a much more restricted event since only a few genomic regions are targeted by this modification. Importantly, this limited interphase histone phosphorylation correlates with transcriptional activation rather than chromatin compaction suggesting that the phosphorylation event itself does not directly initiate major alterations in chromatin structure.

Histone H3 phosphorylation was first discovered in the Sixties to be mediated by both cAMP-dependent and independent kinase activity and Mahadevan and co-workers described the phosphorylation of histone H3 as one of the earliest events in quiescent cells concomitant with the induction of the proto-oncogenes *c-fos* and *c-jun* upon growth factor or stress stimulation (Gutierrez and Hnilica 1967; Langan 1968; Shoemaker and Chalkley 1978; Mahadevan *et al.* 1991). This rapid and transient phosphorylation event on histone H3 is now referred to as the "nucleosomal response".

Since these reports histone H3 phosphorylation was found as a downstream target of several signal transduction cascades including the transcriptional activation of IE genes *c-fos* and *c-jun* as well as the late-induced HDAC1 gene via MAP-kinase stimulation or the cytokine induced H3 phosphorylation via IKK-α (Thomson et al. 1999; Cheung et al. 2000; Clayton et al. 2000; Hauser et al. 2002; Anest et al. 2003; Yamamoto et al. 2003). Knockout studies indicate that H3S10 phosphorylation is mainly mediated via the activity of the downstream effector kinases MSK1/2. Besides other reports on the induction of histone H3 phosphorylation, which can not all be mentioned for reasons of brevity, it was demonstrated recently that also the progesterone receptor (PR) mediated transcriptional induction of the mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) promoter involves the phosphorylation of H3 in an ERK and Msk1 dependent manner (Vicent et al. 2006). In this report the authors demonstrated that the PR forms a ternary complex with ERK and MSK1 upon hormone stimulation, which in turn is rapidly recruited to the MMTV promoter to mediate H3S10 phosphorylation. Disturbance of this cascade and loss of histone phosphorylation resulted in impaired recruitment of the transcriptional co-activators Brg1 and PCAF and reduced localisation of RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) suggesting a role for the H3S10ph mark during the initiation phase of transcription.

Recently, another study investigated the osmotic-stress dependent repression of hormone-dependent transcription of the MMTV promoter. In this system, hormonal induction of MMTV promoter mediated transcription was rep-



Fig. 2 Promoter specific crosstalk between histone H3 S10 phosphorylation and K14 acetylation. Transcriptional induction of the *INO1* and the *GAL1* genes involves phosphoacetylation of histone H3. (A) The Ino2/4 heterodimer interacts with the Snf1 kinase and recruits the enzyme to the *INO1* TATA sequence where it phosphorylates histone H3 at S10. The phosphorylation event is required for the subsequent recruitment of the Gen5 HAT and acetylation of K14. (B) In contrast to the *INO1* activator Ino2/4, the *GAL1* activator Gal4 can interact with both Snf1 and Gen5 and therefore acetylation of K14 at the *GAL1* promoter is independent of S10 phosphorylation. Despite this uncoupling, both histone modifications are required for TBP recruitment and transcriptional induction at both promoters.

ressed by osmotic shock in UL3 cells. Osmotic-shock mediated displacement of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) temporarily and spatially coincided with phosphorylation of H3S10 and H3S28 at histone H3 suggesting that interphase phosphorylation of H3 can also occur during transcriptional repressed states in this system (Burkhart *et al.* 2007).

An interesting feature of H3S10 phosphorylation during interphase is a strong link with acetylation events on neighbouring lysines at position 9 and 14 (H3K9/14ac), which finally gave rise to the neologism "histone H3 phosphoacetylation" (H3S10ph/K14ac) (Cheung *et al.* 2000; Clayton *et al.* 2000). The explanation for the close co-existence of both PTMs is controversial. The observation that the transcriptional co-activator and HAT Gcn5 displayed a strongly increased preference for histone H3 peptides when they were phosphorylated at S10, and Snf1 kinase mediated H3S10 phosphorylation was required for the additional acetylation of H3K14 at the INO1 promoter led to the proposal of a "synergistic coupled model" (Cheung et al. 2000; Lo et al. 2000, 2001). According to this scenario, the preceding phosphorylation increases the affinity of HATenzymes for the histone H3 tail and is obligate for the subsequent acetylation event to generate the phosphoacetylated isoform. Indeed studies on the substrate preferences of recombinant Gcn5 with uniformly H3S10 phosphorylated nucleosomal arrays confirmed these results. However, this preference for H3S10ph nucleosomes was abolished when Gcn5 was assembled into the native SAGA complex (Shogren-Knaak et al. 2003). Studies on two Snf1 regulated targets genes, INO1 and GAL1 revealed a gene specific validity of this model. Whereas H3S10ph at the INO1 promoter was required for recruitment of the SAGA complex and subsequent acetylation of H3K14, at the GAL1 promoter both events are independent and SAGA is recruited also in the absence of phS10 (Lo et al. 2005). Importantly, the relevant activators showed different abilities to interact with the co-activators Snf1 and SAGA, respectively; INO1



Fig. 3 Phosphoacetylation of histone H3 impacts transcription by gene specific mechanisms. (Upper panel) Two MAP kinase cascades, the ERK and p38 pathways are upstream of S10 phosphorylation. ERK can be activated by growth factors like EGF and p38 by stress inducers like anisomycin. Both cascades can mediate activation of the effector kinase MSK1/2 that directly phosphorylates histone H3 (red circle). An alternative effector kinase may be Rsk2, which is only activated via the ERK pathway. S10 phosphorylation is targeted to a minute fraction of nucleosomes that are highly susceptible to lysine acetylation and in the case of *c-fos* and *c-jun* both modifications are targeted to K4 methylated nucleosomes, which are subjected to continuous acetylation turnover (blue trapezium) (see also **Fig. 1**). In contrast to ERK and p38, the JNK pathway does not mediate S10 phosphorylation. However, it was suggested that JNK could mediate the increase in lysine acetylation at the *c-fos* and *c-jun* promoters observed upon JNK/p38 stimulation independently of S10 phosphorylation. (Left panel) Transcriptional induction of IE genes, which are "poised to transcribe", is mediated via transient phospho-acetylation turnover via HDI ceases transcriptional induction. (Right panel) Transcriptional induction of the non-IE phosphoacetylation target gene *HDAC1* requires both modifications in a stable manner. Histone phosphoacetylation can be stabilised via additional HDAC inhibition (HDI) and both modifications show synergy in the transcriptional induction of *HDAC1* (for details see text). The role of K4 methylation has not yet been determined in this system.

activator can solely recruit Snf1 kinase activity, whereas GAL4 activator can interact with both factors explaining the uncoupling of H3S10ph and H3K14ac at the GAL1 promoter. However, despite this lack of direct dependency, H3S10ph was still required to mediate transcriptional induction of the GAL1 and the INO1 gene suggesting a co-operation of H3S10ph and H3K14ac in transcriptional activation (**Fig. 2**).

Additional support for an independent recruitment of both modifications comes from detailed studies on the IE *c-fos* and *c-jun*. Upon MAP-kinase stimulation via growth factors or stress inducers like anisomycin, only a minute fraction of nucleosomes becomes phosphorylated in quiescent cells which is particular susceptible to HDI induced hyperacetylation (Barratt et al. 1994). The nucleosomes of the *c-jun* promoter region are rapidly and transiently phosphoacetylated and appearance of this dual-modified isoform is strongly correlated with transcriptional induction. Thomson and co-workers found that the regulation of H3S10ph and H3K9/14ac is dynamically and independently regulated at the promoters of these protooncogenes (Thomson et al. 2001). Both modification events occur independently as inhibition of p38 or ERK MAP-kinase activity abolished H3S10ph and H3S10ph/K14ac but did not alleviate anisomycin induced hyperacetylation (Thomson et al. 2001; Mahadevan et al. 2004) (Fig. 3). This suggests further that another stress-responsive pathway mediates the local equilibrium-shift between HAT and HDAC activity. Importantly, p38 MAP-kinase stimulation did not influence bulk histone acetylation levels, implying the strict local delivery of this effect (Hauser et al. 2002). In addition HDI induced histone H3 hyperacetylation was observed in G0 cells at the bulk chromatin level and the *c-jun* promoter, demonstrating a continuous turnover of this modification even in the absence of H3S10ph (Thomson et al. 2001; Hauser *et al.* 2002). Despite a stable bulk histone hyper-acetylation in the presence of TSA, histone acetylation at the IE genes is transient, and may therefore involve a TSAinsensitive deacetylase (Thomson et al. 2001). A striking feature of this continuous acetylation turnover at the *c-fos* and *c-jun* promoters was described recently: ablation of this turnover via HDI ceases MAP-kinase mediated transcriptional induction of these genes, demonstrating that constant acetylation/deacetylation is required for activation rather than a highly acetylated state (Hazzalin et al. 2005). This requirement of acetylation turnover appears to be a specific trait of the IE genes as deacetylase inhibition mainly exerts a positive transcriptional response, although some genes clearly require HDAC activity for expression (Zupkovitz et al. 2006).

Although in the case of IE genes, phosphorylation and acetylation of histone H3 constitute two independent events, both modifications were found to synergise in the transcriptional activation of the late inducible HDAC1 gene, which is therefore differentially regulated as the IE genes (Hauser et al. 2002). HDAC1 is repressed via a negative feedback mechanism and not expressed in serum starved G0 cells (Hauser et al. 2002; Schuettengruber et al. 2003). The local HDAC predominance can be overcome, by HDI treatment and was sufficient to induce low levels of HDAC1 expression. Although MAP-kinase activation leads to transient phosphoacetylation at the HDAC1 promoter, this short-term alteration in chromatin structure is not sufficient to overcome the transcriptional repressive, local predominance of HDACs. Upon additional inhibition of deacetylase activity phosphoacetylation is stabilised and shows synergistic effects on the transcriptional induction (Hauser et al. 2002) (Fig. 3). This study did not address the question concerning coupled or uncoupled phosphoacetylation, but clearly demonstrates that histone phosphorylation and acetylation can have synergistic effects in transcriptional activation.

Another interesting feature of H3S10 phosphorylation is the strong inhibition of the H3K4 lysine specific demethylase LSD1. The observations that LSD1 mediated H3K4 demethylation is strongly dependent on removal of other PTMs suggests that several enzymatic activities cooperate during the formation of transcriptional repressive states (Forneris *et al.* 2005, 2006).

The function of histone phosphorylation in transcriptional induction is still not understood. However, due to the extreme local restriction of this modification, and the variety of signal transduction systems that have been reported to mediate histone phosphorylation it is likely that this PTM can mediate transcriptional induction via several different mechanisms. Therefore, the genomic context of H3S10 phosphorylation may be a critical factor for the molecular events, initiated by this modification.

Histone ubiquitination and modification crosstalk *in trans*

Ubiquitination of histone molecules was found for histones H2A, H2B, H3, H4, H2A.Z, macroH2A and H1 (Zhang 2003; Kinyamu *et al.* 2005; Osley *et al.* 2006). In most cases only a single ubiquitin molecule is attached to histones, which is not sufficient for targeting via the 26S proteasome.

Ubiquitination of Histone H1 is mediated via the TAF_{II}250 component of the TFIID complex and is linked to the transcription of a subset of genes. Ubiquitination via TAF_{II}250 is particularly interesting as this is the only known factor that possesses both, ubiquitin activating (E1) and conjugation (E2) activity (Pham and Sauer 2000).

Histone H2A, the first protein found to be ubiquitinated (Goldknopf et al. 1975), is modified at position K119 within the C-terminal globular histone fold domain. Ubiquitinated H2A (H2AK119ub1) comprises approximately 5-15% of total cellular H2A molecules but seems to be restricted to higher eukaryotes and is apparently absent in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Histone H2A ubiquitination is mediated via RING-domain containing components of the polycomb group complex PRC1 and was functionally linked to polycomb silencing and X chromosome inacti-vation (de Napoles et al. 2004; Fang et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2004). On the other hand the same modification was found to correlate with transcriptionally active chromatin states, exemplified by an enrichment of H2AK119ub1 on the nucleosomes of the hsp70 promoter and a depletion at nontranscribed satellite DNA (Levinger and Varshavsky 1982). Further, ubiquitination of H2A and H2B was shown to be enriched at actively transcribed regions in different systems like bovine thymus, chicken erythrocytes and macronuclei of Tetrahymena (reviewed in Zhang 2003 and Osley et al. 2006).

Ubiquitination of H2B was found at K123 in yeast and at K120 in other eukaryotes. In contrast to H2A, H2B ubiquitination is much less abundant (1-2% of total H2B molecules) but more widely distributed within eukaryotes. The yeast enzymes responsible for H2B ubiquitination have been identified as the E2 ligase Rad6/Ubc2 and the E3 ligase Bre1, and both these enzymes have human homologues, UbcH6 and RNF20/RNF40, respectively (Zhang 2003; Osley et al. 2006) (Fig. 4). Rad6/Ubc2 represents a multifunctional E2 enzyme with several different cellular substrates that are specifically targeted via the interaction with different E3 ligases. Bre1 is an important co-factor for Rad6 mediated ubiquitination, as it is also required for the recruitment of Rad6 to promoters, as well as its association with the elongating RNAP II and spreading into the coding region (Henry et al. 2003; Wood et al. 2003). A multitude of additional factors that promote H2B ubiquiti-nation have been described and a majority of them are in-volved in transcriptional regulation as will be discussed below.

It is noteworthy that both histone H2A and H2B constitute (although inefficient) targets for Mdm2 E3 ligase mediated mono-ubiquitination and therefore alternative E3 ligases may provide a gene-specific context for H2A/H2B ubiquitination (Minsky and Oren 2004).



Fig. 4 Modification crosstalk *in trans* between H2B ubiquitination and H3 methylation. Ubiquitination of H2B at K123 in yeast (K120 in human) was found as essential upstream event for methylation of K4 at histone H3. Rad6/Bre1 were identified as responsible E2 and E3 ligases, respectively. The isopeptidase Ubp8 removes ubiquitin in euchromatic regions, whereas Ubp10 mainly acts on heterochromatic chromatin. Rad6/Bre1 mediated ubiquitination was found to be dependent on various additional factors including the RNAP II/PAF elongation complex, as well as the activity of BUR1/2 kinase. Monoubiquitination of H2B is not required for recruitment of the K4 HMTase Set1, but for the localization of the proteasomal components Rpt4/6, which in turn are required for processive di- and trimethylation of K4. K4 methylation again may direct acetylation turnover to the H3 tail *in cis* (see also Fig. 1).

The responsible enzyme for removing ubiquitin from H2B in euchromatic regions was identified as Ubp8 a component of the SAGA acetyltransferase complex, which therefore combines deubiquitination and acetylation activities (**Fig. 4**) (Henry *et al.* 2003; Daniel *et al.* 2004). Importantly, efficient transcriptional initiation requires sequential ubiquitination and deubiquitination as presence of uH2B coincides with the localisation of RNAP II and absence of this modification results in a delay of this recruitment. Further, it was found that the loss of Ubp8 results in an inverse imbalance of H3K4 and H3K36 methylation patterns, which may also perturb transcription (Henry *et al.* 2003).

Another ubiquitin protease that targets H2B is Ubp10, which appears to primarily act on subtelomeric regions adjacent to heterochromatin, although a role in euchromatic repression has bee observed (Emre *et al.* 2005; Gardner *et al.* 2005) (**Fig. 4**).

Genetic analysis of yeast mutants displaying defects in H2B ubiquitination revealed an amazing dependency of H3K4 and H3K79 methylation on this modification. Mutations that abolish ubiquitination of H2B also globally affected H3K4 and H3K79 methylation and caused telomeric and mating type locus silencing defects. This loss of heterochromatic structures was linked to the decreased repulsion of Sir proteins from euchromatic regions due to impaired H3K4 methylation (Briggs et al. 2002; Dover et al. 2002; Sun and Allis 2002). Recent data indicate that monomethylation of H3K4 is independent of H2B ubiquitination whereas the di- and tri-methylated states are preferentially regulated in trans (Dehe et al. 2005; Shahbazian et al. 2005). One key component in this modification crosstalk seems to be the transcription elongation regulator complex PAF and the association of HMTases and ubiquitin ligases with elongating RNAP II (Krogan et al. 2003; Ng et al. 2003).

Importantly, ubiquitination of H2B is not determinant for the recruitment of Set1 and Dot1 HMTases, but required for the localisation of the proteasomal ATPases Rpt4 and Rpt6, which are in turn essential for histone H3 methylation (Ezhkova and Tansey 2004) (**Fig. 4**). Further the Rpt6 ATPase activity of the 19S proteasome regulatory particle (19S RP) was found to be necessary for optimal recruitment of the SAGA-complex to the GAL1-GAL10 promoters, which demonstrates a non-proteolytic role for proteasomal components in transcriptional activation (Lee *et al.* 2005). SAGA associates with the chromodomain protein Chd1 that binds methylated K4, and the complex integrates histone acetyltransferase and ubiquitin protease activities via the components Gcn5 and Ubp8. Both histone ubiquitination and acetylation are dynamically regulated during transcriptional initiation by SAGA demonstrating the importance of the 19S RP mediated regulation of SAGA recruitment.

Besides the PAF elongation complex the transcription elongation factor BUR1, a cyclin-dependent type kinase (cdk), in conjunction with the cyclin BUR2, was found as an essential component for histone H2B ubiquitination, H3K4 trimethylation and mediator for the interaction with the PAF-complex (Laribee et al. 2005; Wood et al. 2005). Interestingly, mutation of H3K36 to arginine or defects in the H3K36 specific HMTase Set2, were identified as origins of the growth defect displayed by BUR1/BUR2 mutants. These mutants also displayed reduced levels of trimethylated H3K36 suggesting that the regulatory kinase BUR1/BUR2 also influences transcription-dependent H3K36me3 via Set2 (Chu et al. 2006).

How exactly ubiquitination impacts transcription is still elusive since some defects displayed in uH2B mutants may be contributed by the crosstalk with H3K4/79 methylation. However, there is accumulating evidence for a function of uH2B in transcriptional initiation and elongation some of which may also be mediated via downstream methylation and some directly contributed via the ubiquitin mark. One model for the role of histone ubiquitination proposes that the effects of this modification are mainly exerted via the bulky ubiquitin moiety and the impact of this residue on the overall chromatin structure. However, in vitro studies failed to detect any major alteration in the structure of nucleosomal arrays. The second model proposes that ubiquitin serves as binding site for modification-dependent detector proteins, which recognise the ubiquitin moiety and lead to the recruitment of further transcriptional activators.

CHROMATIN REMODELLING COMPLEXES

Chromatin and especially nucleosomes are thought to be highly dynamic in response to several biological processes. It is becoming increasingly clear that nucleosomes do not just provide for packing the DNA within chromatin, but are exploited to regulate biological processes in very sophisticated ways. The simplest way by which repression can be achieved is the formation of a stable and inaccessible chromatin structure (heterochromatin). In contrast, activation can be attained by creating an accessible chromatin structure (euchromatin). Upon transcriptional activation nucleosomes often have to be repositioned or even ejected to allow transcription factor binding and recruitment of the transcription machinery (Bernstein et al. 2004). ChIP-onchip experiments using antibodies specific for core histones provide further insights into the location of nucleosomes. Genome-wide studies in yeast suggest an inverse relation between nucleosome density at promoters and transcriptional activation (Bernstein et al. 2004; Lee et al. 2004). Additionally, it was shown that highly transcribed genes are partially depleted of nucleosomes within the coding region (Lee et al. 2004).

Due to the numerous histone-DNA contacts (14 hydrogen bonds and salt linkers) nucleosomes are very stable protein-DNA complexes. Therefore, their displacement normally requires a net-energy input, which is supplied by ATP hydrolysis. ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling complexes in combination with histone chaperones and DNA-binding transcription factors facilitate the displacement of nucleosomes by "sliding" of the DNA with respect to the histone octamer (Meersseman et al. 1992; Becker 2002; Kassabov et al. 2003; Zofall et al. 2006). Additionally, chromatin remodelling may even lead to the transition of the nucleosome to a different DNA segment (nucleosome transfer) (Lorch et al. 1999; Korber et al. 2004). The traversing RNA polymerase itself was also shown to possess ATP-independent remodelling activity (Studitsky et al. 2004). However, it is tempting to speculate that the elongating RNA polymerase acts in concert with ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling complexes, histone chaperones and co-activator complexes upon activation of gene transcription.

The challenges of exposing DNA differ according to local nucleosome organisation. Therefore, it appears that nature has evolved different classes of ATP-dependent remodellers that use distinct mechanisms, each suited to a specific biological task. All known ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling enzymes belong to the helicase superfamily 2 (SF2). Up to now 5 classes of multi-subunit ATP-dependent remodelling complexes are distinguished, based on the identity of their catalytic ATPase subunit, different protein-complex compositions and functional diversity (**Table 1**). For excellent reviews on ATP-dependent remodelling complexes in higher eukaryotes see (Corona and Tamkun 2004; Langst and Becker 2004; Bouazoune and Brehm 2006; Saha *et al.* 2006).

(1) One of the best studied is the SWI/SNF (switch 2/ sucrose-non-fermenting 2) family, which includes the yeast SWI2/SNF2 (ySWI/SNF), the yeast complex "remodels the structure of chromatin" (RSC), the *Drosophila* Brahma complexes BAP and PBAP, the human BRM (hBRM) and BRG1 (hBRG1), and the mouse BRG1 (mBRG1) complexes (Aoyagi *et al.* 2002).

(2) The ISWI (imitation switch) family complexes are smaller and have fewer subunits than their SWI/SNF counterparts. The most extensively studied members of this group in *Drosophila* are the "ATP-utilizing chromatin assembly and remodelling factor" (ACF), "nucleosomeremodelling factor" (NURF), and "chromatin accessibility complex" (CHRAC) (Corona *et al.* 2004; Mellor and Morillon 2004).

(3) The Mi-2 or CHD family contains remodelling and HDAC activities. In human the best studied is the "nucleosome remodelling and deacetylase" (hNURD) complex, which contains HDAC1 and -2, the retinoblastoma protein (Rb)-associated proteins RbAp46 and RbAp48, and the Swi2/Snf2 ATPase homologue CHD4, also known as Mi-2 (antigen recognised by the patient Mitchell autoimmune antibodies 2) (Tong *et al.* 1998)).

Family	ATPase	Characeristics	Organism	Complexes	Function	References
	BRM/ BRG1	Bromodomain	Hs	hSWI/SNF	Transcriptional activation	Trotter and Archer 2007
			Mm	mSWI/SNF	-	
	BRM	Bromodomain	Dm	BAP	Transcriptional activation	Mohrmann 2004
SWI/SNF				PBAP	(elongation?)	Bouazoune and Brehm 2006
	Swi1/Snf2	Bromodomain	Sc	SWI/SNF	Transcriptional	Martens 2002; Chandy 2006
					activation/repression	
	Sth1			RSC	Transcriptional elongation	Carey 2006
			Hs	WCRF/hACF	Transcriptional	Corona and Tamkun 2004
				WICH	activation/repression	
				hCHRAC		
				RSF		
			Mm	NoRC	Transcriptional	
ISWI	ISWI	SANT domain		mWICH	activation/repression	
		SLIDE domain	Dm	ACF	Higher chromatin structure	Bouazoune and Brehm 2006
		(PHD-finger (ACF1))		CHRAC	Transcriptional	Corona and Tamkun 2004
				NURF	activation/repression	
					Replication	
			Sc	ISW1a/b	Transcriptional	Mellor and Morillon 2004
					elongation/termination	
				ISW2	Transcriptional repression	
	Mi-2β/CHD4	Chromodomain	Hs	NuRD	Transcriptional repression	Bowen et al. 2004
		PHD-finger	(Mm)		· ·	
Mi-2	dMi-2	Chromodomain	Dm	dNuRD	Transcriptional repression	Bouazoune and Brehm 2006
		PHD-finger			Development	
			Hs	SRCAP	H2A.Z chaperone	Cai 2005
SWR1	Swr1p	Split ATPase domain	Dm	Domino	H2A.Z chaperone	Eissenberg 2005
	<u>^</u>		Sc	SWR1	H2A.Z chaperone	Mizuguchi 2004
			Hs	hINO80	DNA repair	Jin 2005
INO80	Ino80p	Split ATPase domain	Dm	dINO80	DNA repair	
	···r		Sc	INO80	DNA repair	Morrison and Shen 2005

 Table 1 ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes of the helices superfamily 2 (SF2).

(4 and 5) In addition to these three families, two other chromatin remodelling complexes, referred to as SWR1 and INO80 have been known in yeast, and only recently complexes containing proteins with striking similarity to SWR1 and INO80 respectively, have been discovered in human. The mammalian "SWI/SNF-related CBP activator protein" (SRCAP) resembles the yeast SWR1 chromatin remodelling complex and contains proteins, including TIP49a and TIP49b, which are also subunits of the TRRAP/ TIP60 HAT complex described by Conaway and colleagues (Cai *et al.* 2005). The same group purified a mammalian INO80-related remodelling complex from HeLa cells, referred to as hINO80, which consists of several orthologues of subunits of the yeast INO80 complex, including once more TIP49a and TIP49b (Jin *et al.* 2005).

Recruitment of chromatin remodelling activity

Remodelling complexes mediate and regulate a remarkable number of biological processes and therefore need to be highly specialised. For example ISWI complexes were shown to have central roles in repressive chromatin assembly, which involves regular and constant nucleosome ordering and spacing. In contrast, SWI/SNF complexes are responsible to disorder and reorganise nucleosomes to increase DNA accessibility upon gene activation (reviewed in (Corona et al. 2004; Dirscherl and Krebs 2004; Saha et al. 2006). However, SWI/SNF complexes were also shown to be involved in transcriptional repression (Martens and Winston 2002), while ISWI complexes are also involved in transcriptional activation (Deuring et al. 2000). It is believed that remodelling complexes achieve their specificity mainly due to the binding to sequence specific transcription factors in a particular chromatin context. Binding can be even stimulated and increased by motifs that enable the recognition of special chromatin (see Table 1). For example the ISWI complex interacts with the Acf1 protein, which can bind to the histone core via a PHD domain (Ragvin et al. 2004). In addition, it contains two domains, known as the SANT and SLIDE domain, on the C-terminus, which recognise especially the histone H4 tail and the linker DNA that emits from the nucleosome, respectively (Grune et al. 2003).

Other remodelling complexes, as the SWI/SNF and RSC complexes, bind to nucleosomes via one or more bromodomains with a preference for particular acetylated residues on the histone tail. For instance the RSC complex is highly specific for H3K14ac (Kasten *et al.* 2004). In contrast, Bdf1 a component of the SWR1 complex, was shown to preferentially bind histone H4 acetylated at H4K5, H4K8 and H4K12, but not H4K16 (Kurdistani *et al.* 2004). Members of the Mi-2 family might recognise repressive chromatin by a chromodomain (Kelley *et al.* 1999). Therefore, it is not astonishing that remodelling complexes operate along with histone modifying complexes, like histone acetyltransferase complexes (SAGA, NuA3 and NuA4) and histone deacetylase complexes (Sin3 and NuRD).

Models for chromatin remodelling

Due to the many different biological tasks, it is tempting to assume that remodelling complexes might use distinct and probably unique mechanisms of remodelling. However, extensive *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies indicate that all different phenomena of remodelling can be explained by variations of one and the same model. Several possible models for chromatin remodelling have been discussed and most of them are related to each other and differ only in minor variations (Studitsky *et al.* 2004; Saha *et al.* 2006).

The "bulging/looping model" involves the unwrapping of the DNA from the nucleosome edge to form a DNA bulge/loop, which is then moved around the nucleosomal surface. In this model, nucleosome/DNA contacts are broken on one side of the bulge and reformed on the other side. The propagation of the DNA bulge around the histone octamer can lead to nucleosome sliding, a displacement of the octamer *in cis*. As the formation of a DNA bulge leads to a partly accessible octamer surface, the detached DNA cannot only be replaced by neighbouring DNA, but also by an unconnected DNA molecule enabling an octamer transfer *in trans*.

The "wave model" is very similar to the "bulge model" and suggests that DNA is "pumped" around the nucleosome, resembling a DNA wave. The resulting loss of contact often leads to an exchange of a histone H2A-H2B dimer, which in turn allows for the incorporation of an H2A.Z-H2B dimer (Bruno *et al.* 2003; Zhang *et al.* 2005) or eviction of the whole nucleosome (Lee *et al.* 2004). Evicted nucleosomes are frequently exchanged by replacement variant H3.3 containing nucleosomes, a hallmark of active chromatin in higher eukaryotes (Wirbelauer *et al.* 2005). In this model nucleosomes are replaced *in cis* and *in trans.*

According to the "twisting model" torsion applied to DNA could lead to DNA twisting and disruption of histone-DNA contacts; this model actually involves both mechanisms described above (Studitsky *et al.* 2004).

Other authors have suggested slightly different models, which however, are variations of the described models. For instance the "loop recapture model" and the "wave-ratchet-wave model" are discussed for the SWI/SNF and ISWI complexes in recently published reviews (Langst *et al.* 2004; Saha *et al.* 2006).

The ySWI/SNF remodelling complex

The yeast SWI/SNF ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling complex was first identified and characterized over 10 years ago (Winston and Carlson 1992). Even though remodelling by the SWI/SNF complex is one of the best studied, the mechanism of its action is not completely understood. Due to the low number of SWI/SNF complexes within a cell compared to the vast number of nucleosomes that need to be remodelled and the dual function of this complex, which is involved in both transcriptional activation and repression, it was suggested that chromatin remodelling by SWI/SNF is a tightly regulated process and is restricted predominantly to promoter regions of active genes (Peterson and Workman 2000).

A large number of in vitro studies revealed that SWI/ SNF catalyses nucleosome sliding (Kassabov et al. 2003; Zofall et al. 2006), whereas in vivo data increasingly suggest SWI/SNF to be involved in nucleosome eviction (also referred to as nucleosome transfer in trans) at activated promoters (Reinke and Horz 2003; Korber et al. 2004). It was shown that the yeast SWI/SNF remodelling complex preferentially removes histones that have been acetylated by the SAGA complex from nucleosomal arrays in vitro (Chandy et al. 2006). This observation can be linked to the finding that nucleosome displacement by SWI/SNF is at least partly dependent on the SWI/SNF bromodomain. In addition to PTMs the activity of SWI/SNF is enhanced by binding to transcription factors carrying an activation domain in vivo (Gutierrez et al. 2007). Due to these findings and the fact that many promoters of activated genes are nucleosome-free the following mechanism was suggested: SAGA complex is recruited to promoter nucleosomes, which are acetylated by the SAGA histone acetyltransferase Gcn5. Binding sites get accessible for transcription factors which finally target SWI/SNF complex to the SAGA acetylated nucleosomes. The displacement of these nucleosomes by SWI/SNF generates a docking site for the RNAP II transcription machinery (Chandy et al. 2006; Gutierrez et al. 2007). It is worth mentioning that, in addition to transcriptional activation, SWI/SNF complexes were shown to be involved also in transcriptional repression (Martens et al. 2002).

The hBRG1 chromatin remodelling complex

In mammals, the SWI/SNF homologue BRG1 was also found to participate in nuclear receptor (NR) mediated transcriptional regulation (Trotter and Archer 2007). The steroid hormone inducible MMTV promoter is a wellestablished model system and was used extensively to study the role of SWI/SNF in NR-mediated gene activation. GR and estrogen receptor (ER) interact with SWI/SNF subunits and are most likely responsible for site-specific recruitment of the remodelling complex. Subsequent remodelling of the MMTV promoter leads to increased accessibility of hormone response elements (HREs) and increased NR binding with concomitant gene activation. Moreover, ISWI and Mi-2 based remodelling complexes cannot activate GR-dependent target genes, suggesting that BRG1 is the responsible remodelling complex required for hormone-dependent transcription (Trotter et al. 2007). Further studies showed that GR binding and remodelling by BRG1 is of transient and cyclical nature, which involves reorganisation of especially H2A and H2B histones (Nagaich et al. 2004).

As mentioned above, BRG1 recruitment to the MMTV promoter is not only dependent on GR binding but also on phosphorylation of S10 on histone H3 (Vicent *et al.* 2006).

In contrast to gene activation, human SWI/SNF plays also a role in chromatin condensation and gene repression. For instance BRG1 and hBRM were found to participate in Rb-E2F repression pathways (Zhang and Dean 2001), and Sin3, a HDAC complex, was shown to interact *in vitro* with components of the hSWI/SNF complex (Sif *et al.* 2001).

The yRSC chromatin remodelling complex

Another example of coordinated action of HATs and ATPdependent remodelling complexes involves RNAP II elongation. The RSC remodelling complex was shown to facilitate RNAP II elongation on nucleosomes, which was further enhanced by acetylation of nucleosomes by SAGA and NuA4 HAT complexes (Carey *et al.* 2006). RSC possesses in total seven bromodomains, which recognise acetylated form of K14 on histone H3, the main target residue of Gcn5 within the SAGA complex (Kasten *et al.* 2004). Moreover, RSC can directly interact with RNAP II via the RPB5 subunit (Soutourina *et al.* 2006).

However, the function of histone acetylation during transcriptional elongation is more complicated, especially due to the fact that coding regions are actively deacetylated by Rpd3 (Lieb and Clarke 2005). Deacetylation is a consequence of K36 methylation and is required to prevent transcriptional initiation from cryptic promoters within the coding region (Carrozza et al. 2005). It is believed that acetylation and RSC recruitment is restricted to nucleosomes preceding the elongating RNAP II machinery. This would permit the required remodelling of chromatin ahead of RNAP II. Deacetylation of histones after RNAP II passage would prevent chromatin remodelling and nucleosome eviction (Carey et al. 2006). Therefore, it seems that a tight regulation of acetylation and deacetylation during elongation is of ultimate importance to guarantee the maintenance of chromatin stability and integrity.

ISWI chromatin remodelling complexes

ISWI was discovered in a screen for brahma related genes in *Drosophila* (Elfring *et al.* 1994) and was subsequently found as component of three chromatin remodelling complexes. ISWI homologues were identified in many other organisms including yeast and mammals, suggesting that this ATPase is highly conserved. Functions of ISWI chromatin remodelling complexes are diverse and range from transcriptional regulation to global chromosome organisation and DNA replication (Corona *et al.* 2004).

Even though there is evidence for a role in transcrip-

tional activation, ISWI containing complexes are definitely involved in repression. For instance, in *Drosophila* polytene chromosomes ISWI complexes do not overlap with RNAP II, but are predominantly found in silent areas (Deuring *et al.* 2000). Additionally, there is direct evidence that yeast ISWI complexes, in particular Isw1a and Isw2, are involved in transcriptional repression (Goldmark *et al.* 2000; Morillon *et al.* 2003). In contrast, the Isw1b complex was found to play a role in transcriptional elongation and termination (Morillon *et al.* 2003).

ISWI complexes are also involved in chromosome organisation. For instance, in the absence of ISWI the male X chromosome in *Drosophila* larvae appears much less condensed. In *Drosophila* dosage compensation is accomplished by increasing the level of transcription of the single dose of X-linked genes in males. This is partly achieved by hyperacetylation of H4K16 by the histone acetyltransferase MOF, a component of the dosage compensa-tion machinery (Park and Kuroda 2001). When H4K16 acetylation is blocked, the phenotype of the male X chromosome in *ISWI* mutants is rescued, suggesting that histone H4K16ac directly counteracts chromatin compaction mediated by the ISWI ATPase (Corona *et al.* 2004).

The NuRD chromatin remodelling complex

The NuRD complex was found to associate with several sequence specific transcriptional repressors, which might be responsible for local targeting of the complex. In addition, the complex might be recruited via the interaction with methylated lysines through chromodomain containing subunits. However, no binding to methylated H3K9 or H3K4 was detected, suggesting that NuRD might recognise a different methylated lysine residue (Flanagan *et al.* 2005).

Another indication for a role in transcriptional repression is the ability of *Drosophila* NuRD to bind to DNA methylated at CpT/A sequences via its methyl binding domain (MBD)-subunits. Finally, chromatin remodelling by NuRD facilitates deacetylation, (one further hallmark of silenced and transcriptional repressed chromatin) due to the HDAC activity within the complex (Tong *et al.* 1998). However, other studies suggested a connection of dMi-2 complexes with active gene transcription, as dNuRD colocalises with active forms of RNAP II on polytene chromosomes (Srinivasan *et al.* 2005). This discrepancy can be explained by recent studies which suggested a very dynamic acetylation and deacetylation behaviour together with extensive chromatin remodelling during transcriptional elongation (Ekwall 2005).

The ySWR1 chromatin remodelling complex

Several chromatin remodelling complexes including SWI/ SNF, RSC and ISWI, can catalyse the exchange of a H2A-H2B dimer (Bruno *et al.* 2003). However, only one remodelling complex, the SWR1 complex, was shown up to now to facilitate incorporation of H2A.Z into nucleosomes (Kobor *et al.* 2004; Mizuguchi *et al.* 2004).

Remodelling by the SWR1 complex enables DNA translocation by pumping DNA towards the histone octamer. This results in the formation of a DNA wave on the nucleosomal surface, which leads to a break of histone/DNA interactions, especially the one of H2A-H2B dimers. SWR1 was shown to remove the loosen H2A-H2B dimer and replace it with H2A.Z-H2B (Mizuguchi *et al.* 2004). The H2A.Z variant actually plays a role in repressing the spreading of heterochromatin at telomeres and is also a mark for poised promoters (see chapter on histone variants). Additionally, SWR1 shares some members with the HAT complex NuA4, suggesting a link of H2A.Z replacement and histone acetylation (Keogh *et al.* 2006).

Remodelling by RNAP II

In addition to ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling complexes reorganisation of chromatin can also be achieved by the traversing RNA polymerase itself (Studitsky *et al.* 2004).

Genes transcribed by RNA polymerase III are covered with transcription factors to prevent the formation of nucleosomes, thus chromatin remodelling is not required for transcriptional ignition or elongation. In contrast, RNA polymerase I transcribed genes for rRNAs and snRNAs contain nucleosomes, which are disrupted by an unknown RNAP I dependent remodelling mechanism. RNA polymerase II transcribed genes usually retain nucleosomal structure but have to undergo extensive chromatin remodelling to enable transcription. ATP-dependent remodelling complexes facilitate transcription by mechanisms, which involve nucleosome disruption, eviction and reassembly as described above. Another factor referred to as "facilitates chromatin transcription" (FACT) stimulates transcription through chromatin independently of ATP. FACT possesses an intrinsic chaperone character and disassembles H2A-H2B dimers from nucleosomes (Belotserkovskaya et al. 2003). It was shown that FACT is not only responsible for nucleosome disruption, but is also required for proper nucleosome reassembly behind the elongating polymerase (Kaplan et al. 2003). Another factor that might be involved in the remodelling of nucleosomes during transcription is the elongation factor SPT6, which possesses H3-H4 histone chaperone activity (Bortvin and Winston 1996; Kaplan et al. 2003).

HISTONE VARIANTS IN ACTIVE CHROMATIN

In addition to post-translational modifications of histones, histone variants play an important role as epigenetic marks. Different variants of histones H3 and H2A distinguish alternative chromatin states and participate in the assembly of specialised chromatin structures like centromere or telomeres and formation of the inactive X chromosome in female mammals. Importantly, the presence of some histone variants is closely linked to actively transcribed loci. The so-called replicative variants (H1, H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) are synthesized and incorporated only during the S phase, whereas the replacement variants are expressed constitutively throughout the cell cycle.

Although there are several mammalian histone variants, only two are common for all eukaryotes. All organisms express an evolutionary conserved, centromere-specific histone H3 variant (CenH3 or Centromere protein A (CENP-A)), which is critical for proper centromere function and the histone H2A variant referred to as H2A.Z in mammals and Htz1 in *S. cerevisiae*.

Besides the centromere-specific variant, in mammals histone H3 exists as two replicative variants (H3.1 and H3.2) and one replacement variant H3.3. Whereas the former two are exclusively synthesised and incorporated into chromatin during S phase, H3.3 can be integrated throughout the cell cycle by a replication-independent mechanism and is a mark of actively transcribed chromatin (Ahmad and Henikoff 2002).

H2A.Z, a H2A histone variant with only about 60% identity with the canonical H2A isoform, is also associated with active chromatin. In budding yeast, H2A.Z is found near silenced regions, like telomeres, where it inhibits the spreading of silent heterochromatin (Meneghini *et al.* 2003). Besides H2A.Z, other H2A variants are associated with diverse chromatic states. While macroH2A is enriched on the human inactive X chromosome, especially at regions that undergo transcriptional silencing (Chadwick and Willard 2002), H2A-Bbd (Barr-body-deficient), is widely distributed with the exception of the inactive X chromosome (the Barr body), suggesting that this pair of H2A variants mark alternative epigenetic states (Chadwick and Willard 2001). H2A.X is assembled at sites of double-

strand brakes and phosphorylation of its C-terminal motif is an important event for recruitment of DNA-repair machineries (Fernandez-Capetillo *et al.* 2004).

The histone H2A.Z variant

H2A.Z was shown to be required for full expression of about 200 genes in yeast, suggesting a role of H2A.Z replacement in gene activation (Meneghini *et al.* 2003). Originally, H2A.Z was identified as a factor that limited the spreading of telomeric heterochromatin and was therefore described as an "antisilencing barrier" (Dryhurst *et al.* 2004). Importantly, histone acetylation, especially of K16 on histone H4, was found to be of tremendous importance for this function. In mammals, in contrast, H2A.Z is also enriched in heterochromatic foci together with HP1 and knock down experiments of this variant resulted in genomic instability, suggesting that H2A.Z might have diverse functions in different organisms (Fan *et al.* 2004).

Genome-wide studies in budding yeast revealed a number of RNAP II promoters, which are enriched for the Htz1 variant (the yeast homologue of H2A.Z in mammals) (Zhang *et al.* 2005). The SWR1 complex, closely related to the SWI/SNF family of ATP-dependent nucleosome remodelling enzymes, was found to be responsible for the exchange of H2A.Z-H2B and H2A-H2B dimers (Mizuguchi *et al.* 2004).

Htz1 localizes preferentially at TATA-less promoters of repressed genes and correlates with particular histone acetylation patterns (H3K14ac and H4K8ac). Nucleosomes containing Htz1 were shown to be less stable than H2A nucleosomes and are lost upon gene activation. Whether the entire nucleosome or just the Htz1-H2B dimers are ejected is still to be evaluated. Taken together, Htz1 variant is a general activator that facilitates induction of gene expression through its susceptibility to loss from nucleosomes (Zhang *et al.* 2005).

Another factor that mediates histone exchange is FACT, a histone chaperone that selectively removes H2A-H2B dimers, thereby destabilising the nucleosome during transcription elongation (Kaplan *et al.* 2003). A further histone chaperone, the nucleosome assembly protein 1 (NAP-1) is involved in removing and replacing H2A-H2B dimers, resulting in nucleosome sliding and histone exchange. This process is independent of ATP, but the kinetics of these reactions is very slow (Park *et al.* 2005).

The histone H3.3 variant

Histone H3.3 differs from canonical H3.1 and H3.2 at only five or four amino acid positions, respectively (**Fig. 5**). Whereas H3.1 and H3.2 variants are expressed in S-phase, the H3.3 variant is constitutively expressed and is the dominant H3 isoform in differentiated cells. Thus, H3.3 is also referred to as a canonical histone version. While H3.1 assembly into chromatin during replication is regulated by a replication-specific complex that includes the chromatin assembly factor 1 (CAF1), H3.3 deposition occurs by a replication-independent mechanism and involves a specialised chaperone complex containing the histone regulator A (HIRA) (Ahmad *et al.* 2002; Henikoff and Ahmad 2005). Importantly, H3.3 containing nucleosomes exclusively contain this particular H3 variant and not H3.1 or H3.2 (Loyola *et al.* 2006).

Up to now, it is not clear why the cell distinguishes between the replication and the replacement variant, as either of these variants lead to almost identical nucleosomal structures. The only divergent amino acid in the amino-terminal tail of H3.3 is H3.3S31 that can be phosphorylated during mitosis (Hake *et al.* 2005). However, this phosphorylation is distinct from other mitotic marks, such as H3S10ph and H3S28ph in histone H3 as it is present only in late prometaphase and metaphase around centromeres. Other differences in the H3.3 amino acid composition are located within the globular domain. Three unique 10 20 30 40 H3.3 ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKAARKSAPSTGGVKKPHRYRPGTVA H3.1 ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKAARKSAPATGGVKKPHRYRPGTVA H3.2 ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKAARKSAPATGGVKKPHRYRPGTVA

50 60 70 80 90 96 LREIRRYQKSTELLIRKLPFQRLVREIAQDFKTDLRFQSAAIGALQEASEAY LREIRRYQKSTELLIRKLPFQRLVREIAQDFKTDLRFQSSAVMALQEACEAY LREIRRYQKSTELLIRKLPFQRLVREIAQDFKTDLRFQSSAVMALQEASEAY

100 110 120 130 LVGLFEDTNLCAIHAKRVTIMPKDIQLARRIRGERA LVGLFEDTNLCAIHAKRVTIMPKDIQLARRIRGERA LVGLFEDTNLCAIHAKRVTIMPKDIQLARRIRGERA

Fig. 5 Alignment of histone H3 variants. The three canonical histone H3 variants, H3.1, H3.2 and H3.3 differ only in a few but critical amino acids. H3.3 contains a serine at position 31, which is phosphorylated during mitosis. Three alterations at position 87, 89 and 90 were found to be sufficient for replication-independent incorporation of H3.3 via the HIRA complex. All three histone variants possess a cysteine at position 110, which is thought to form internucleosomal disulfide bonds. H3.1 contains a unique cysteine at position 96, which constitutes the sole difference between H3.1 and H3.2. This residue may be involved in the formation of intramolecular disulfide bonds (details see text).

amino acids (positions 87, 89 and 90) within histone H3.3 that further distinguish this variant from H3.1 and H3.2 were found to be crucial for the replication-independent incorporation via the HIRA complex (Ahmad et al. 2002). Another difference between H3.3 and H3.1 concerns position 96. Whereas H3.2 and H3.3 contain a serine at this position H3.1, contains a cysteine at this site. The other cysteine at position 110 is common for all H3 variant and it was recognised quite early that this residue is masked and inaccessible in transcriptionally silent chromatin (Allfrey et al. 1964). Further it was suggested, that H3C110 forms intramolecular disulfide bonds, within the nucleosome. corresponding to a reversible transcriptional repressive state, whereas H3.1C96 forms intermolecular disulfide bonds to other nucleosomes or components of the nuclear envelope such as the lamin B receptor (LBR), leading to the formation of transcriptional repressive heterochromatin (Hake and Allis 2006a).

Strikingly, also the PTM patterns observed on the different H3 variants are different. H3.3 is particular enriched in modifications associated with transcriptional active chromatin, but depleted for repressive modifications like H3K9 methylation, affirming studies that demonstrated H3.3 incorporation during transcription. In contrast H3.1 and H3.2 were found to carry mainly repressive modification patterns (McKittrick *et al.* 2004; Hake *et al.* 2006b).

Genome-wide studies in *Drosophila* confirmed that H3.3 replacement occurs at actively transcribed genes in correlation with abundant RNAP II (Mito *et al.* 2005). In addition global profiling of H3.3 incorporation in *Drosophila* SL2 cells showed that even though promoters of active genes were partly depleted of histones, H3.3 was predominantly found at the very proximal promoter regions and within coding regions with a decline from 5' to 3' (Mito *et al.* 2005). In contrast, another study in *Drosophila* Kc cells revealed that H3.3 was absent of promoters and was found only throughout transcribed regions (Wirbelauer *et al.* 2005).

In mammals, H3.3 replacement seems to differ from the fly system. In mouse fibroblasts, H3.3 deposition correlated with transcription of E2F regulated genes. However, incorporation was observed predominantly at promoters, whereas downstream regions showed lower levels of H3.3 (Daury *et al.* 2006). Another study in mouse pro- and pre-B-cells showed H3.3 replacement mainly upstream from the transcription initiation site of active genes (Chow *et al.* 2005). Therefore it was suggested that H3.3 incorporation in mammals is rather associated with chromatin remodelling and promoter function and less linked to transcriptional elongation. In yeast, the situation was found to be completely different. Whereas *S. pombe* expresses one H3 variant with hallmarks of H3.3 and H3.2, H3.3 is the only variant found in *S. cerevisiae*, fitting to the model of the "active genome" of this organism and the lack of transcriptional repressive H3K9 methylation. During transcription (H3-H4)₂ tetramers are removed before RNAP II is traversing and are then rapidly reloaded *in trans* (Schwabish and Struhl 2004). Therefore it will be an important task to further address the differences in histone variant incorporation between different organisms.

Chromatin assembly

It is believed that $(H3-H4)_2$ tetramers, comprising specific modification patterns (especially acetylation), build the first contact to DNA. However, the deposition complexes CAF1 and HIRA were shown to be associated with H3-H4 dimers and not tetramers (Tagami et al. 2004). Thus, H3 and H4 are deposited as dimers rather than tetramers. CAF1 associates specifically with H3.1-H4 dimers and is involved in a nucleosome assembly pathway dependent on DNA synthesis (replication-coupled (RC) pathway), whereas HIRA binds H3.3-H4 dimers and was shown to mediate a nucleosome assembly pathway independent of replication (replication-independent (RI) pathway) (Tagami et al. 2004). Within either complex the anti-silencing function 1 protein (ASF1), a member of the N1 chaperone family, is also present together with dimeric forms of H3 and H4. Once the tetramer is formed on the DNA, nucleosome assembly protein-1 (NAP-1), an additional histone chaperone of the nucleoplasmin family, adds the H2A-H2B dimers to complete the nucleosome structure. Finally, acetyl moieties are removed from the newly assembled chromatin by HDACs (Polo and Almouzni 2006).

Currently, there are two models how chromatin is assembled especially during replication. According to the conservative model newly replicated DNA is assembled into chromatin using *de novo* synthesised histones and old parental histones into separate ways. At the replication folk, the parental nucleosome is suggested to be transiently disrupted into two H2A-H2B dimers and one (H3-H4)₂ tetramer. The tetramer either stays on the leading strand or is transferred to the newly replicated strand randomly. The newly synthesised tetramer is assembled on the other daughter strand in a CAF1-dependent manner. According to this model old and new histones are not found in the same nucleosomes.

The semi-conservative assembly model suggests that parental and *de-novo* synthesised histones are assembled

into the same nucleosome. (H3-H4)₂ tetramers are split into two heterodimers, which are equally distributed to the two daughter strands and then are paired with newly synthesised H3-H4 dimers by CAF1 (Tagami *et al.* 2004).

Up to now, it is not clear according to which mechanism chromatin is assembled *in vivo*. The semi-conservative model provides an elegant mechanism for the inheritance of epigenetic chromatin states, as the chromatin composition is identical in both daughter strands after replication. The fact that nucleosomes are homogenous in their H3 composition (Loyola *et al.* 2006) either implicates a mechanism to convert mixed (H3.1/H3.3) tetramers into homogenous (H3.1/H3.1) tetramers or renders the conservative model to be more likely.

OUTLOOK

It is of enormous importance to understand the mechanisms that regulate transcription, DNA repair and other biological issues by modifying chromatin structures. Until recently the study of human diseases has focused on genetic changes on the DNA level, while it is becoming increasingly clear that a number of disorders are linked to epigenetic and often heritable alterations. Aberrant DNA methylation and changes in histone PTM patterns are associated with various disorders such as cancer or autoimmune diseases.

In this review we discussed three different mechanisms that are required for the modulation of chromatin architecture: the PTMs of histones, ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling and the incorporation of specialised histone variants. All these events are well established as important factors for transcriptional activation or repression. Misleadingly, they are frequently looked at as separate and isolated mechanisms. However, the examples discussed above clearly point out that all three mechanisms are connected events although they may be of different relevance at particular genomic regions. Because of this crosstalk it is not surprising that enzymes involved in all three mechanisms are often found together in multi-protein complexes.

A reciprocal interaction may be most obvious for histone PTMs and examples of an interplay between different modifications in cis and in trans are well established. Indeed various proteins beside histones are known to undergo multiple PTMs in an interdependent fashion. As mentioned above, the basis for such modification crosstalk may be the assembly of several enzymatic activities into multiprotein complexes, the direct influence of "early" or stable modifications on the recruitment or enzymatic activity of "delayed" modifiers, or the impact of PTMs on proteinprotein interactions. Therefore, an important task for future research will be to address the modification "make-up" of histones (and other proteins) during different cellular conditions and the effects of such combinatorial modifications. One approach would be the use of antibodies directed against multiple modified histone molecules, such as phosphoacetylation or phosphomethylation. Mass spectrometry and proteomic methods constitute another promising approach for the generation of histone "modification maps" complementing modification specific antibodies without the drawback of the sometimes unreliable epitope specificity. However, for mapping of modification patterns to particular genomic regions, methods like ChIP-on-chip assays are still indispensable, due to the inability to enrich certain genomic regions in a way that would allow mass spectrometric analysis of the associated chromatin components.

The identification of modification-dependent interaction domains, such as the chromo- or bromodomains, provided the basis for the analysis of the biological effects of PTMs on protein-protein interactions. Recent observations point to further layer of complexity; as such interactions may be modulated by PTM combinations, exemplified by the mitotic "binary-switching" demonstrated for HP1 proteins (Mateescu *et al.* 2004; Fischle *et al.* 2005; Hirota *et al.* 2005). Indeed modification-dependent protein interactions under certain conditions may also provide the basis for the targeting further enzymatic activities like chromatin remodellers, as has been discussed above.

The importance of histone PTMs in the formation and also the propagation of particular chromatic states are also emphasised by the observation that different histone H3 variants are differentially enriched for PTMs either associated with transcriptional active or repressive chromatin. These specialised histone variants were suggested to constitute an "index" or genomic "barcode" (Hake *et al.* 2006a), which would also emphasise the differential PTMs on different variants.

Concluding, the formation and interpretation of transcriptionally active chromatin involves multiple mechanisms at several different levels that collaborate on the constitution of a particular but dynamic epigenetic state.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank R. Brunmeir for helpful discussions. This work was supported by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF P16443-B04) and the GEN-AU project "Epigenetic Plasticity of the Mammalian Genome" (Federal Ministry for Education, Science and Culture). S. Winter is a fellow of the Vienna Biocenter PhD program (Austrian Science Fund).

REFERENCES

- Ahmad K, Henikoff S (2002) The histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replication-independent nucleosome assembly. *Molecular Cell* 9, 1191-1200
- Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE (1964) Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 51, 786-794
- Anest V, Hanson JL, Cogswell PC, Steinbrecher KA, Strahl BD, Baldwin AS (2003) A nucleosomal function for IκB kinase-α in NF-κB-dependent gene expression. *Nature* 423, 659-663
- Aoyagi S, Narlikar G, Zheng C, Sif S, Kingston RE, Hayes JJ (2002) Nucleosome remodeling by the human SWI/SNF complex requires transient global disruption of histone-DNA interactions. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22, 3653-3662
- Barratt MJ, Hazzalin CA, Cano E, Mahadevan LC (1994) Mitogen-stimulated phosphorylation of histone H3 is targeted to a small hyperacetylationsensitive fraction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 91, 4781-4785
- Becker PB (2002) Nucleosome sliding: facts and fiction. *The EMBO Journal* 21, 4749-4753
- Belotserkovskaya R, Oh S, Bondarenko VA, Orphanides G, Studitsky VM, Reinberg D (2003) FACT facilitates transcription-dependent nucleosome alteration. *Science* **301**, 1090-1093
- Bernstein BE, Liu CL, Humphrey EL, Perlstein EO, Schreiber SL (2004) Global nucleosome occupancy in yeast. *Genome Biology* **5**, R62
- Bortvin A, Winston F (1996) Evidence that Spt6p controls chromatin structure by a direct interaction with histones. *Science* **272**, 1473-1476
- Bouazoune K, Brehm A (2006) ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling complexes in Drosophila. *Chromosome Research* 14, 433-449
- Briggs SD, Xiao T, Sun ZW, Caldwell JA, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Allis CD, Strahl BD (2002) Gene silencing: *trans*-histone regulatory pathway in chromatin. *Nature* 418, 498
- Brownell JE, Zhou J, Ranalli T, Kobayashi R, Edmondson DG, Roth SY, Allis CD (1996) Tetrahymena histone acetyltransferase A: a homolog to yeast Gen5p linking histone acetylation to gene activation. *Cell* **84**, 843-851
- Bruno M, Flaus A, Stockdale C, Rencurel C, Ferreira H, Owen-Hughes T (2003) Histone H2A/H2B dimer exchange by ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling activities. *Molecular Cell* 12, 1599-1606
- Burkhart BA, Kennett SB, Archer TK (2007) Osmotic stress-dependent repression is mediated by histone H3 phosphorylation and chromatin structure. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 4400-4407
- Cai Y, Jin J, Florens L, Swanson SK, Kusch T, Li B, Workman JL, Washburn MP, Conaway RC, Conaway JW (2005) The mammalian YL1 protein is a shared subunit of the TRRAP/TIP60 histone acetyltransferase and SRCAP complexes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 13665-13670
- Calestagne-Morelli A, Ausio J (2006) Long-range histone acetylation: biological significance, structural implications, and mechanisms. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 84, 518-527
- Cameron EE, Bachman KE, Myohanen S, Herman JG, Baylin SB (1999) Synergy of demethylation and histone deacetylase inhibition in the re-expression of genes silenced in cancer. *Nature Genetics* **21**, 103-107
- Carey M, Li B, Workman JL (2006) RSC exploits histone acetylation to abrogate the nucleosomal block to RNA polymerase II elongation. *Molecular Cell* 24, 481-487

- Carrozza MJ, Li B, Florens L, Suganuma T, Swanson SK, Lee KK, Shia WJ, Anderson S, Yates J, Washburn MP, Workman JL (2005) Histone H3 methylation by Set2 directs deacetylation of coding regions by Rpd3S to suppress spurious intragenic transcription. *Cell* **123**, 581-592
- **Chadwick BP, Willard HF** (2001) A novel chromatin protein, distantly related to histone H2A, is largely excluded from the inactive X chromosome. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **152**, 375-384
- Chadwick BP, Willard HF (2002) Cell cycle-dependent localization of macroH2A in chromatin of the inactive X chromosome. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 157, 1113-1123
- Chandy M, Gutierrez JL, Prochasson P, Workman JL (2006) SWI/SNF displaces SAGA-acetylated nucleosomes. *Eukaryotic Cell* 5, 1738-1747
- Cheung P, Tanner KG, Cheung WL, Sassone-Corsi P, Denu JM, Allis CD (2000) Synergistic coupling of histone H3 phosphorylation and acetylation in response to epidermal growth factor stimulation. *Molecular Cell* **5**, 905-915
- Chow CM, Georgiou A, Szutorisz H, Maia e Silva A, Pombo A, Barahona I, Dargelos E, Canzonetta C, Dillon N (2005) Variant histone H3.3 marks promoters of transcriptionally active genes during mammalian cell division. *EMBO Reports* 6, 354-360
- Chu Y, Sutton A, Sternglanz R, Prelich G (2006) The BUR1 cyclin-dependent protein kinase is required for the normal pattern of histone methylation by SET2. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **26**, 3029-3038
- Clayton AL, Hazzalin CA, Mahadevan LC (2006) Enhanced histone acetylation and transcription: a dynamic perspective. *Molecular Cell* 23, 289-296
- Clayton AL, Rose S, Barratt MJ, Mahadevan LC (2000) Phosphoacetylation of histone H3 on c-fos- and c-jun-associated nucleosomes upon gene activation. *The EMBO Journal* **19**, 3714-3726
- Corona DF, Tamkun JW (2004) Multiple roles for ISWI in transcription, chromosome organization and DNA replication. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1677, 113-119
- Csankovszki G, Nagy A, Jaenisch R (2001) Synergism of Xist RNA, DNA methylation, and histone hypoacetylation in maintaining X chromosome inactivation. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **153**, 773-784
- Czermin B, Schotta G, Hulsmann BB, Brehm A, Becker PB, Reuter G, Imhof A (2001) Physical and functional association of SU(VAR)3-9 and HDAC1 in *Drosophila*. *EMBO Reports* **2**, 915-919
- Daniel JA, Torok MS, Sun ZW, Schieltz D, Allis CD, Yates JR 3rd, Grant PA (2004) Deubiquitination of histone H2B by a yeast acetyltransferase complex regulates transcription. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 1867-1871
- Daury L, Chailleux C, Bonvallet J, Trouche D (2006) Histone H3.3 deposition at E2F-regulated genes is linked to transcription. *EMBO Reports* 7, 66-71
- de Napoles M, Mermoud JE, Wakao R, Tang YA, Endoh M, Appanah R, Nesterova TB, Silva J, Otte AP, Vidal M Koseki H, Brockdorff N (2004) Polycomb group proteins Ring1A/B link ubiquitylation of histone H2A to heritable gene silencing and X inactivation. *Developmental Cell* 7, 663-676
- Dehe PM, Pamblanco M, Luciano P, Lebrun R, Moinier D, Sendra R, Verreault A, Tordera V, Geli V (2005) Histone H3 lysine 4 mono-methylation does not require ubiquitination of histone H2B. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 353, 477-484
- Deuring R, Fanti L, Armstrong JA, Sarte M, Papoulas O, Prestel M, Daubresse G, Verardo M, Moseley SL, Berloco M, Tsukiyama T, Wu C, Pimpinelli S, Tamkun JW (2000) The ISWI chromatin-remodeling protein is required for gene expression and the maintenance of higher order chromatin structure *in vivo*. *Molecular Cell* 5, 355-365
- **Dialynas GK, Makatsori D, Kourmouli N, Theodoropoulos PA, McLean K, Terjung S, Singh PB, Georgatos SD** (2006) Methylation-independent binding to histone H3 and cell cycle-dependent incorporation of HP1β into heterochromatin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **281**, 14350-14360
- Dirscherl SS, Krebs JE (2004) Functional diversity of ISWI complexes. Biochemistry and Cell Biology 82, 482-489
- Dou Y, Milne TA, Tackett AJ, Smith ER, Fukuda A, Wysocka J, Allis CD, Chait BT, Hess JL, Roeder RG (2005) Physical association and coordinate function of the H3 K4 methyltransferase MLL1 and the H4 K16 acetyltransferase MOF. *Cell* 121, 873-885
- Dover J, Schneider J, Tawiah-Boateng MA, Wood A, Dean K, Johnston M, Shilatifard A (2002) Methylation of histone H3 by COMPASS requires ubiquitination of histone H2B by Rad6. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 28368-28371
- Downward J (2001) The ins and outs of signalling. Nature 411, 759-762
- Doyon Y, Cayrou C, Ullah M, Landry AJ, Cote V, Selleck W, Lane WS, Tan S, Yang XJ, Cote J (2006) ING tumor suppressor proteins are critical regulators of chromatin acetylation required for genome expression and perpetuation. *Molecular Cell* 21, 51-64
- Dryhurst D, Thambirajah AA, Ausio J (2004) New twists on H2A.Z: a histone variant with a controversial structural and functional past. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 82, 490-497
- Egger G, Liang G, Aparicio A, Jones PA (2004) Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy. *Nature* **429**, 457-463
- Ekwall K (2005) Genome-wide analysis of HDAC function. *Trends in Genetics* **21**, 608-615
- Elfring LK, Deuring R, McCallum CM, Peterson CL, Tamkun JW (1994)

Identification and characterization of *Drosophila* relatives of the yeast transcriptional activator SNF2/SWI2. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 14, 2225-2234

- Emre NC, Ingvarsdottir K, Wyce A, Wood A, Krogan NJ, Henry KW, Li K, Marmorstein R, Greenblatt JF, Shilatifard A, Berger SL (2005) Maintenance of low histone ubiquitylation by Ubp10 correlates with telomereproximal Sir2 association and gene silencing. *Molecular Cell* 17, 585-594
- Ezhkova E, Tansey WP (2004) Proteasomal ATPases link ubiquitylation of histone H2B to methylation of histone H3. *Molecular Cell* **13**, 435-442
- Fan JY, Rangasamy D, Luger K, Tremethick DJ (2004) H2A.Z alters the nucleosome surface to promote HP1α-mediated chromatin fiber folding. *Molecular Cell* 16, 655-661
- Fang J, Chen T, Chadwick B, Li E, Zhang Y (2004) Ring1b-mediated H2A ubiquitination associates with inactive X chromosomes and is involved in initiation of X inactivation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 52812-52815
- Fernandez-Capetillo O, Allis CD, Nussenzweig A (2004) Phosphorylation of histone H2B at DNA double-strand breaks. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 199, 1671-1677
- Fischle W, Tseng BS, Dormann HL, Ueberheide BM, Garcia BA, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Funabiki H, Allis CD (2005) Regulation of HP1-chromatin binding by histone H3 methylation and phosphorylation. *Nature* 438, 1116-1122
- Flanagan JF, Mi LZ, Chruszcz M, Cymborowski M, Clines KL, Kim Y, Minor W, Rastinejad F, Khorasanizadeh S (2005) Double chromodomains cooperate to recognize the methylated histone H3 tail. *Nature* 438, 1181-1185
- Forneris F, Binda C, Dall'Aglio A, Fraaije MW, Battaglioli E, Mattevi A (2006) A highly specific mechanism of histone H3-K4 recognition by histone demethylase LSD1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 35289-35295
- Forneris F, Binda C, Vanoni MA, Battaglioli E, Mattevi A (2005) Human histone demethylase LSD1 reads the histone code. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 41360-41365
- Fraga MF, Esteller M (2005) Towards the human cancer epigenome: a first draft of histone modifications. Cell Cycle 4, 1377-1381
- Fuks F, Burgers WA, Brehm A, Hughes-Davies L, Kouzarides T (2000) DNA methyltransferase Dnmt1 associates with histone deacetylase activity. *Nature Genetics* 24, 88-91
- Gardner RG, Nelson ZW, Gottschling DE (2005) Ubp10/Dot4p regulates the persistence of ubiquitinated histone H2B: distinct roles in telomeric silencing and general chromatin. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 25, 6123-6139
- Goldknopf IL, Taylor CW, Baum RM, Yeoman LC, Olson MO, Prestayko AW, Busch H (1975) Isolation and characterization of protein A24, a "histone-like" non-histone chromosomal protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 250, 7182-7187
- Goldmark JP, Fazzio TG, Estep PW, Church GM, Tsukiyama T (2000) The Isw2 chromatin remodeling complex represses early meiotic genes upon recruitment by Ume6p. *Cell* **103**, 423-433
- Gray SG, Iglesias AH, Lizcano F, Villanueva R, Camelo S, Jingu H, Teh BT, Koibuchi N, Chin WW, Kokkotou E, Dangond F (2005) Functional characterization of JMJD2A, a histone deacetylase- and retinoblastoma-binding protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 28507-28518
- Grune T, Brzeski J, Eberharter A, Clapier CR, Corona DF, Becker PB, Muller CW (2003) Crystal structure and functional analysis of a nucleosome recognition module of the remodeling factor ISWI. *Molecular Cell* 12, 449-460
- Gutierrez JL, Chandy M, Carrozza MJ, Workman JL (2007) Activation domains drive nucleosome eviction by SWI/SNF. *The EMBO Journal* 26, 730-740

Gutierrez RM, Hnilica LS (1967) Tissue specificity of histone phosphorylation. Science 157, 1324-1325

- Hake SB, Allis CD (2006a) Histone H3 variants and their potential role in indexing mammalian genomes: the "H3 barcode hypothesis". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 103, 6428-6435
- Hake SB, Garcia BA, Duncan EM, Kauer M, Dellaire G, Shabanowitz J, Bazett-Jones DP, Allis CD, Hunt DF (2006b) Expression patterns and posttranslational modifications associated with mammalian histone H3 variants. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 559-568
- Hake SB, Garcia BA, Kauer M, Baker SP, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Allis CD (2005) Serine 31 phosphorylation of histone variant H3.3 is specific to regions bordering centromeres in metaphase chromosomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102, 6344-6349
- Hauser C, Schuettengruber B, Bartl S, Lagger G, Seiser C (2002) Activation of the mouse histone deacetylase 1 gene by cooperative histone phosphorylation and acetylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **22**, 7820-7830
- Hazzalin CA, Mahadevan LC (2005) Dynamic acetylation of all lysine 4-methylated histone H3 in the mouse nucleus: analysis at c-fos and c-jun. *PLoS Biology* 3, e393
- Hendzel MJ, Wei Y, Mancini MA, Van Hooser A, Ranalli T, Brinkley BR, Bazett-Jones DP, Allis CD (1997) Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of histone H3 initiates primarily within pericentromeric heterochromatin during G2 and spreads in an ordered fashion coincident with mitotic chromosome condensation. *Chromosoma* 106, 348-360

Henikoff S, Ahmad K (2005) Assembly of variant histones into chromatin.

Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 21, 133-153

- Henry KW, Wyce A, Lo WS, Duggan LJ, Emre NC, Kao CF, Pillus L, Shilatifard A, Osley MA, Berger SL (2003) Transcriptional activation via sequential histone H2B ubiquitylation and deubiquitylation, mediated by SAGA-associated Ubp8. Genes and Development 17, 2648-2663
- Hirota T, Lipp JJ, Toh BH, Peters JM (2005) Histone H3 serine 10 phosphorylation by Aurora B causes HP1 dissociation from heterochromatin. *Nature* 438, 1176-1180
- Huang Y, Fang J, Bedford MT, Zhang Y, Xu RM (2006) Recognition of histone H3 lysine-4 methylation by the double tudor domain of JMJD2A. *Science* 312, 748-751
- Humphrey GW, Wang Y, Russanova VR, Hirai T, Qin J, Nakatani Y, Howard BH (2001) Stable histone deacetylase complexes distinguished by the presence of SANT domain proteins CoREST/kiaa0071 and Mta-L1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 6817-24
- Jenuwein T, Allis CD (2001) Translating the histone code. Science 293, 1074-1080
- Jin J, Cai Y, Yao T, Gottschalk AJ, Florens L, Swanson SK, Gutierrez JL, Coleman MK, Workman JL, Mushegian A, Washburn MP, Conaway RC, Conaway JW (2005) A mammalian chromatin remodeling complex with similarities to the yeast INO80 complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 41207-41212
- Jones PL, Veenstra GJ, Wade PA, Vermaak D, Kass SU, Landsberger N, Strouboulis J, Wolffe AP (1998) Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. *Nature Genetics* 19, 187-191
- Kaplan CD, Laprade L, Winston F (2003) Transcription elongation factors repress transcription initiation from cryptic sites. *Science* 301, 1096-1099
- Kaslow DC, Migeon BR (1987) DNA methylation stabilizes X chromosome inactivation in eutherians but not in marsupials: evidence for multistep maintenance of mammalian X dosage compensation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 84, 6210-6214
- Kassabov SR, Zhang B, Persinger J, Bartholomew B (2003) SWI/SNF unwraps, slides, and rewraps the nucleosome. *Molecular Cell* **11**, 391-403
- Kasten M, Szerlong H, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Werner M, Cairns BR (2004) Tandem bromodomains in the chromatin remodeler RSC recognize acetylated histone H3 Lys14. *The EMBO Journal* 23, 1348-1359
- Kelley DE, Stokes DG, Perry RP (1999) CHD1 interacts with SSRP1 and depends on both its chromodomain and its ATPase/helicase-like domain for proper association with chromatin. *Chromosoma* 108, 10-25
- Keogh MC, Mennella TA, Sawa C, Berthelet S, Krogan NJ, Wolek A, Podolny V, Carpenter LR, Greenblatt JF, Baetz K, Buratowski S (2006) The Saccharomyces cerevisiae histone H2A variant Htz1 is acetylated by NuA4. Genes and Development 20, 660-665
- Kinyamu HK, Chen J, Archer TK (2005) Linking the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway to chromatin remodeling/modification by nuclear receptors. *Journal* of Molecular Endocrinology 34, 281-297
- Kobor MS, Venkatasubrahmanyam S, Meneghini MD, Gin JW, Jennings JL, Link AJ, Madhani HD, Rine J (2004) A protein complex containing the conserved Swi2/Snf2-related ATPase Swr1p deposits histone variant H2A.Z into euchromatin. *PLoS Biology* **2**, E131
- Korber P, Luckenbach T, Blaschke D, Horz W (2004) Evidence for histone eviction in *trans* upon induction of the yeast PHO5 promoter. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 24, 10965-10974
- Krogan NJ, Dover J, Wood A, Schneider J, Heidt J, Boateng MA, Dean K, Ryan OW, Golshani A, Johnston M, Greenblatt JF, Shilatifard A (2003) The Pafl complex is required for histone H3 methylation by COMPASS and Dot1p: linking transcriptional elongation to histone methylation. *Molecular Cell* 11, 721-729
- Kurdistani SK, Tavazoie S, Grunstein M (2004) Mapping global histone acetylation patterns to gene expression. Cell 117, 721-733
- Lachner M, O'Sullivan RJ, Jenuwein T (2003) An epigenetic road map for histone lysine methylation. *Journal of Cell Science* **116**, 2117-2124
- Langan TA (1968) Histone phosphorylation: stimulation by adenosine 3',5'monophosphate. Science 162, 579-580
- Langst G, Becker PB (2004) Nucleosome remodeling: one mechanism, many phenomena? *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1677, 58-63
- Laribee RN, Krogan NJ, Xiao T, Shibata Y, Hughes TR, Greenblatt JF, Strahl BD (2005) BUR kinase selectively regulates H3 K4 trimethylation and H2B ubiquitylation through recruitment of the PAF elongation complex. *Current Biology* **15**, 1487-1493
- Lee CK, Shibata Y, Rao B, Strahl BD, Lieb JD (2004) Evidence for nucleosome depletion at active regulatory regions genome-wide. *Nature Genetics* 36, 900-905
- Lee D, Ezhkova E, Li B, Pattenden SG, Tansey WP, Workman JL (2005) The proteasome regulatory particle alters the SAGA coactivator to enhance its interactions with transcriptional activators. *Cell* **123**, 423-436
- Lee MG, Wynder C, Cooch N, Shiekhattar R (2005) An essential role for CoREST in nucleosomal histone 3 lysine 4 demethylation. *Nature* 437, 432-435
- Levinger L, Varshavsky A (1982) Selective arrangement of ubiquitinated and D1 protein-containing nucleosomes within the Drosophila genome. *Cell* 28, 375-385

Lieb JD, Clarke ND (2005) Control of transcription through intragenic

patterns of nucleosome composition. Cell 123, 1187-1190

- Lo WS, Duggan L, Emre NC, Belotserkovskya R, Lane WS, Shiekhattar R, Berger SL (2001) Snf1 – a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription. *Science* 293, 1142-1146
- Lo WS, Gamache ER, Henry KW, Yang D, Pillus L, Berger SL (2005) Histone H3 phosphorylation can promote TBP recruitment through distinct promoter-specific mechanisms. *The EMBO Journal* 24, 997-1008
- Lo WS, Trievel RC, Rojas JR, Duggan L, Hsu JY, Allis CD, Marmorstein R, Berger SL (2000) Phosphorylation of serine 10 in histone H3 is functionally linked *in vitro* and *in vivo* to Gcn5-mediated acetylation at lysine 14. *Molecular Cell* 5, 917-926
- Lorch Y, Zhang M, Kornberg RD (1999) Histone octamer transfer by a chromatin-remodeling complex. *Cell* **96**, 389-392
- Loyola A, Bonaldi T, Roche D, Imhof A, Almouzni G (2006) PTMs on H3 variants before chromatin assembly potentiate their final epigenetic state. *Molecular Cell* 24, 309-316
- Lunyak VV, Burgess R, Prefontaine GG, Nelson C, Sze SH, Chenoweth J, Schwartz P, Pevzner PA, Glass C, Mandel G, Rosenfeld MG (2002) Corepressor-dependent silencing of chromosomal regions encoding neuronal genes. *Science* 298, 1747-52
- Mahadevan LC, Clayton AL, Hazzalin CA, Thomson S (2004) Phosphorylation and acetylation of histone H3 at inducible genes: two controversies revisited. *Novartis Foundation Symposium* 259, 102-111; discussion 111-104, 163-109
- Mahadevan LC, Willis AC, Barratt MJ (1991) Rapid histone H3 phosphorylation in response to growth factors, phorbol esters, okadaic acid, and protein synthesis inhibitors. *Cell* 65, 775-783
- Martens JA, Winston F (2002) Evidence that Swi/Snf directly represses transcription in S. cerevisiae. Genes and Development 16, 2231-2236
- Mateescu B, England P, Halgand F, Yaniv M, Muchardt C (2004) Tethering of HP1 proteins to chromatin is relieved by phosphoacetylation of histone H3. *EMBO Reports* 5, 490-496
- McKittrick E, Gafken PR, Ahmad K, Henikoff S (2004) Histone H3.3 is enriched in covalent modifications associated with active chromatin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **101**, 1525-1530
- Meersseman G, Pennings S, Bradbury EM (1992) Mobile nucleosomes a general behavior. *The EMBO Journal* 11, 2951-2959
- Mellor J, Morillon A (2004) ISWI complexes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1677, 100-112
- Meneghini MD, Wu M, Madhani HD (2003) Conserved histone variant H2A.Z protects euchromatin from the ectopic spread of silent heterochromatin. *Cell* 112, 725-736
- Metzger E, Wissmann M, Yin N, Muller JM, Schneider R, Peters AH, Gunther T, Buettner R, Schule R (2005) LSD1 demethylates repressive histone marks to promote androgen-receptor-dependent transcription. *Nature* 437, 436-439
- Milne TA, Briggs SD, Brock HW, Martin ME, Gibbs D, Allis CD, Hess JL (2002) MLL targets SET domain methyltransferase activity to Hox gene promoters. *Molecular Cell* 10, 1107-1117
- Minsky N, Oren M (2004) The RING domain of Mdm2 mediates histone ubiquitylation and transcriptional repression. *Molecular Cell* 16, 631-639
- Mito Y, Henikoff JG, Henikoff S (2005) Genome-scale profiling of histone H3.3 replacement patterns. *Nature Genetics* 37, 1090-1097
- Mizuguchi G, Shen X, Landry J, Wu WH, Sen S, Wu C (2004) ATP-driven exchange of histone H2AZ variant catalyzed by SWR1 chromatin remodeling complex. *Science* 303, 343-348
- Mizzen CA, Yang XJ, Kokubo T, Brownell JE, Bannister AJ, Owen-Hughes T, Workman J, Wang L, Berger SL, Kouzarides T, Nakatani Y, Allis CD (1996) The TAF(II)250 subunit of TFIID has histone acetyltransferase activity. Cell 87, 1261-1270
- Morillon A, Karabetsou N, O'Sullivan J, Kent N, Proudfoot N, Mellor J (2003) Isw1 chromatin remodeling ATPase coordinates transcription elongation and termination by RNA polymerase II. *Cell* 115, 425-435
- Nagaich AK, Walker DA, Wolford R, Hager GL (2004) Rapid periodic binding and displacement of the glucocorticoid receptor during chromatin remodeling. *Molecular Cell* 14, 163-174
- Nan X, Ng HH, Johnson CA, Laherty CD, Turner BM, Eisenman RN, Bird A (1998) Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. *Nature* 393, 386-389
- Ng HH, Robert F, Young RA, Struhl K (2003) Targeted recruitment of Set1 histone methylase by elongating Pol II provides a localized mark and memory of recent transcriptional activity. *Molecular Cell* **11**, 709-719
- Nightingale KP, Gendreizig S, White DA, Bradbury C, Hollfelder F, Turner BM (2007) Cross talk between histone modifications in response to HDAC inhibitors: MLL4 links histone H3 acetylation and histone H3K4 methylation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 4408-4416
- Nishioka K, Chuikov S, Sarma K, Erdjument-Bromage H, Allis CD, Tempst P, Reinberg D (2002) Set9, a novel histone H3 methyltransferase that facilitates transcription by precluding histone tail modifications required for heterochromatin formation. *Genes and Development* 16, 479-489
- Osley MA, Fleming AB, Kao CF (2006) Histone ubiquitylation and the regulation of transcription. *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation* 41, 47-75
- Park Y, Kuroda MI (2001) Epigenetic aspects of X-chromosome dosage com-

pensation. Science 293, 1083-1085

- Park YJ, Chodaparambil JV, Bao Y, McBryant SJ, Luger K (2005) Nucleosome assembly protein 1 exchanges histone H2A-H2B dimers and assists nucleosome sliding. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 1817-1825
- Pena PV, Davrazou F, Shi X, Walter KL, Verkhusha VV, Gozani O, Zhao R, Kutateladze TG (2006) Molecular mechanism of histone H3K4me3 recognition by plant homeodomain of ING2. *Nature* 442, 100-103
- Peterson CL, Workman JL (2000) Promoter targeting and chromatin remodeling by the SWI/SNF complex. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 10, 187-192
- Pham AD, Sauer F (2000) Ubiquitin-activating/conjugating activity of TAFII250, a mediator of activation of gene expression in *Drosophila*. Science 289, 2357-2360
- Polo SE, Almouzni G (2006) Chromatin assembly: a basic recipe with various flavours. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* **16**, 104-111
- Pray-Grant MG, Daniel JA, Schieltz D, Yates JR 3rd, Grant PA (2005) Chd1 chromodomain links histone H3 methylation with SAGA- and SLIK-dependent acetylation. *Nature* 433, 434-438
- Ragvin A, Valvatne H, Erdal S, Arskog V, Tufteland KR, Breen K, AM OY, Eberharter A, Gibson TJ, Becker PB, Aasland R (2004) Nucleosome binding by the bromodomain and PHD finger of the transcriptional cofactor p300. Journal of Molecular Biology 337, 773-788
- Reinke H, Horz W (2003) Histones are first hyperacetylated and then lose contact with the activated PHO5 promoter. *Molecular Cell* **11**, 1599-1607
- Saha A, Wittmeyer J, Cairns BR (2006) Mechanisms for nucleosome movement by ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes. *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation* 41, 127-148
- Santos-Rosa H, Bannister AJ, Dehe PM, Geli V, Kouzarides T (2004) Methylation of H3 lysine 4 at euchromatin promotes Sir3p association with heterochromatin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**, 47506-47512
- Santos-Rosa H, Schneider R, Bannister AJ, Sherriff J, Bernstein BE, Emre NC, Schreiber SL, Mellor J, Kouzarides T (2002) Active genes are trimethylated at K4 of histone H3. *Nature* 419, 407-411
- Santos-Rosa H, Schneider R, Bernstein BE, Karabetsou N, Morillon A, Weise C, Schreiber SL, Mellor J, Kouzarides T (2003) Methylation of histone H3 K4 mediates association of the Isw1p ATPase with chromatin. *Molecular Cell* **12**, 1325-1332
- Schuettengruber B, Simboeck E, Khier H, Seiser C (2003) Autoregulation of mouse histone deacetylase 1 expression. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 23, 6993-7004
- Schwabish MA, Struhl K (2004) Evidence for eviction and rapid deposition of histones upon transcriptional elongation by RNA polymerase II. *Molecular* and Cellular Biology 24, 10111-10117
- Shahbazian MD, Zhang K, Grunstein M (2005) Histone H2B ubiquitylation controls processive methylation but not monomethylation by Dot1 and Set1. *Molecular Cell* 19, 271-277
- Shi X, Hong T, Walter KL, Ewalt M, Michishita E, Hung T, Carney D, Pena P, Lan F, Kaadige MR, Lacoste N, Cayrou C, Davrazou F, Saha A, Cairns BR, Ayer DE, Kutateladze TG, Shi Y, Cote J, Chua KF, Gozani O (2006) ING2 PHD domain links histone H3 lysine 4 methylation to active gene repression. *Nature* 442, 96-99
- Shi Y, Lan F, Matson C, Mulligan P, Whetstine JR, Cole PA, Casero RA (2004) Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. *Cell* 119, 941-953
- Shi Y, Sawada J, Sui G, Affar el B, Whetstine JR, Lan F, Ogawa H, Luke MP, Nakatani Y (2003) Coordinated histone modifications mediated by a CtBP co-repressor complex. *Nature* 422, 735-738
- Shoemaker CB, Chalkley R (1978) An H3 histone-specific kinase isolated from bovine thymus chromatin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 253, 5802-5807
- Shogren-Knaak MA, Fry CJ, Peterson CL (2003) A native peptide ligation strategy for deciphering nucleosomal histone modifications. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 15744-15748
- Sif S, Saurin AJ, Imbalzano AN, Kingston RE (2001) Purification and characterization of mSin3A-containing Brg1 and hBrm chromatin remodeling complexes. *Genes and Development* 15, 603-618

Sims RJ 3rd, Reinberg D (2006) Histone H3 Lys 4 methylation: caught in a bind? Genes and Development 20, 2779-2786

- Soutourina J, Bordas-Le Floch V, Gendrel G, Flores A, Ducrot C, Dumay-Odelot H, Soularue P, Navarro F, Cairns BR, Lefebvre O, Werner M (2006) Rsc4 connects the chromatin remodeler RSC to RNA polymerases. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 26, 4920-4933
- Srinivasan S, Armstrong JA, Deuring R, Dahlsveen IK, McNeill H, Tamkun JW (2005) The *Drosophila* trithorax group protein Kismet facilitates an early step in transcriptional elongation by RNA Polymerase II. *Development* 132, 1623-1635
- Strahl BD, Allis CD (2000) The language of covalent histone modifications. *Nature* 403, 41-45
- Strahl BD, Ohba R, Cook RG, Allis CD (1999) Methylation of histone H3 at lysine 4 is highly conserved and correlates with transcriptionally active nuclei in *Tetrahymena*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 96, 14967-14972

Studitsky VM, Walter W, Kireeva M, Kashlev M, Felsenfeld G (2004) Chro-

matin remodeling by RNA polymerases. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 29, 127-135

- Sun ZW, Allis CD (2002) Ubiquitination of histone H2B regulates H3 methylation and gene silencing in yeast. *Nature* 418, 104-108
- Taddei A, Roche D, Bickmore WA, Almouzni G (2005) The effects of histone deacetylase inhibitors on heterochromatin: implications for anticancer therapy? *EMBO Reports* 6, 520-524
- Tagami H, Ray-Gallet D, Almouzni G, Nakatani Y (2004) Histone H3.1 and H3.3 complexes mediate nucleosome assembly pathways dependent or independent of DNA synthesis. *Cell* 116, 51-61
- Taunton J, Hassig CA, Schreiber SL (1996) A mammalian histone deacetylase related to the yeast transcriptional regulator Rpd3p. Science 272, 408-411
- Thomson S, Clayton AL, Hazzalin CA, Rose S, Barratt MJ, Mahadevan LC (1999) The nucleosomal response associated with immediate-early gene induction is mediated via alternative MAP kinase cascades: MSK1 as a potential histone H3/HMG-14 kinase. *The EMBO Journal* 18, 4779-4793
- Thomson S, Clayton AL, Mahadevan LC (2001) Independent dynamic regulation of histone phosphorylation and acetylation during immediate-early gene induction. *Molecular Cell* 8, 1231-1241
- Tong JK, Hassig CA, Schnitzler GR, Kingston RE, Schreiber SL (1998) Chromatin deacetylation by an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodelling complex. *Nature* 395, 917-921
- Trewick SC, McLaughlin PJ, Allshire RC (2005) Methylation: lost in hydroxylation? *EMBO Reports* 6, 315-320
- Trotter KW, Archer TK (2007) Nuclear receptors and chromatin remodeling machinery. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 265-266, 162-7
- Turner BM (2002) Cellular memory and the histone code. Cell 111, 285-291
- Vakoc CR, Mandat SA, Olenchock BA, Blobel GA (2005) Histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and HP1γ are associated with transcription elongation through mammalian chromatin. *Molecular Cell* **19**, 381-391
- van der Vlag J, Otte AP (1999) Transcriptional repression mediated by the human polycomb-group protein EED involves histone deacetylation. *Nature Genetics* 23, 474-478
- Vaute O, Nicolas E, Vandel L, Trouche D (2002) Functional and physical interaction between the histone methyl transferase Suv39H1 and histone deacetylases. *Nucleic Acids Research* 30, 475-481
- Vicent GP, Ballare C, Nacht AS, Clausell J, Subtil-Rodriguez A, Quiles I, Jordan A, Beato M (2006) Induction of progesterone target genes requires activation of Erk and Msk kinases and phosphorylation of histone H3. *Molecular Cell* 24, 367-381
- Wang H, Wang L, Erdjument-Bromage H, Vidal M, Tempst P, Jones RS, Zhang Y (2004) Role of histone H2A ubiquitination in Polycomb silencing. *Nature* 431, 873-878
- Wang J, Mager J, Chen Y, Schneider E, Cross JC, Nagy A, Magnuson T (2001) Imprinted X inactivation maintained by a mouse Polycomb group gene. *Nature Genetics* 28, 371-375

Whetstine JR, Nottke A, Lan F, HuarteM, Smolikov S, Chen Z, Spooner E, Li E, Zhang G, Colaiacovo M, Shi Y (2006) Reversal of histone lysine trimethylation by the JMJD2 family of histone demethylases. *Cell* 125, 467-481

- Winston F, Carlson M (1992) Yeast SNF/SWI transcriptional activators and the SPT/SIN chromatin connection. *Trends in Genetics* 8, 387-391
- Wirbelauer C, Bell O, Schubeler D (2005) Variant histone H3.3 is deposited at sites of nucleosomal displacement throughout transcribed genes while active histone modifications show a promoter-proximal bias. *Genes and Development* 19, 1761-1766
- Wood A, Krogan NJ, Dover J, Schneider J, Heidt J, Boateng MA, Dean K, Golshani A, Zhang Y, Greenblatt JF, Johnston M, Shilatifard A (2003) Bre1, an E3 ubiquitin ligase required for recruitment and substrate selection of Rad6 at a promoter. *Molecular Cell* 11, 267-274
- Wood A, Schneider J, Dover J, Johnston M, Shilatifard A (2005) The Burl/ Bur2 complex is required for histone H2B monoubiquitination by Rad6/Bre1 and histone methylation by COMPASS. *Molecular Cell* 20, 589-599
- Wysocka J, Myers MP, Laherty CD, Eisenman RN, Herr W (2003) Human Sin3 deacetylase and trithorax-related Set1/Ash2 histone H3-K4 methyltransferase are tethered together selectively by the cell-proliferation factor HCF-1. *Genes and Development* **17**, 896-911
- Wysocka J, Swigut T, Milne TA, Dou Y, Zhang X, Burlingame AL, Roeder RG, Brivanlou AH, Allis CD (2005) WDR5 associates with histone H3 methylated at K4 and is essential for H3 K4 methylation and vertebrate development. *Cell* 121, 859-872
- Wysocka J, Swigut T, Xiao H, Milne TA, Kwon SY, Landry J, Kauer M, Tackett AJ, Chait BT, Badenhorst P, Wu C, Allis CD (2006) A PHD finger of NURF couples histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation with chromatin remodelling. *Nature* 442, 86-90
- Xiao B, Jing C, Wilson JR, Walker PA, Vasisht N, Kelly G, Howell S, Taylor IA, Blackburn GM, Gamblin SJ (2003) Structure and catalytic mechanism of the human histone methyltransferase SET7/9. *Nature* **421**, 652-656
- Yamamoto Y, Verma UN, Prajapati S, Kwak YT, Gaynor RB (2003) Histone H3 phosphorylation by IKK-α is critical for cytokine-induced gene expression. *Nature* 423, 655-659
- Yamane K, Toumazou C, Tsukada Y, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Wong J, Zhang Y (2006) JHDM2A, a JmjC-containing H3K9 demethylase, facilitates transcription activation by androgen receptor. *Cell* **125**, 483-495

Yang XJ (2005) Multisite protein modification and intramolecular signaling. Oncogene 24, 1653-1662

Zegerman P, Canas B, Pappin D, Kouzarides T (2002) Histone H3 lysine 4 methylation disrupts binding of nucleosome remodeling and deacetylase (NuRD) repressor complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 11621-11624

- Zhang D, Yoon HG, Wong J (2005) JMJD2A is a novel N-CoR-interacting protein and is involved in repression of the human transcription factor achaete scute-like homologue 2 (ASCL2/Hash2). *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 25, 6404-6414
- Zhang H, Roberts DN, Cairns BR (2005) Genome-wide dynamics of Htz1, a histone H2A variant that poises repressed/basal promoters for activation through histone loss. *Cell* **123**, 219-231

Zhang HS, Dean DC (2001) Rb-mediated chromatin structure regulation and

transcriptional repression. Oncogene 20, 3134-3138

- Zhang K, Siino JS, Jones PR, Yau PM, Bradbury EM (2004) A mass spectrometric "Western blot" to evaluate the correlations between histone methylation and histone acetylation. *Proteomics* 4, 3765-3775
- Zhang Y (2003) Transcriptional regulation by histone ubiquitination and deubiquitination. *Genes and Development* 17, 2733-2740
- Zofall M, Persinger J, Kassabov SR, Bartholomew B (2006) Chromatin remodeling by ISW2 and SWI/SNF requires DNA translocation inside the nucleosome. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology* 13, 339-346
- Zupkovitz G, Tischler J, Posch M, Sadzak I, Ramsauer K, Egger G, Grausenburger R, Schweifer N, Chiocca S, Decker T, Seiser C (2006) Negative and positive regulation of gene expression by mouse histone deacetylase 1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 26, 7913-7928